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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Good morning,

          3  ladies and gentlemen. This is the Committee on

          4  General Welfare hearing regarding the Mayor's

          5  Management Report.

          6                 For the entire month of November

          7  committees of the Council have been having hearings

          8  on the Mayor's Management Report as it relates to

          9  each agency under the particular committee's

         10  jurisdiction. In the case of the General Welfare

         11  Committee, the agencies under our jurisdiction

         12  include the Commission on Human Rights, the

         13  Department of Employment, the Department of Homeless

         14  Services, the Administration for Children's

         15  Services, and the Human Resources Administration and

         16  all of its components.

         17                 With the exception of our first

         18  witness, the Commissioner from the Commission on

         19  Human Rights, who whenever she appears before this

         20  Committee presents both thorough and thoughtful

         21  testimony, for the most part I believe that the MMR

         22  hearings, as opposed to any of our regularly

         23  scheduled hearings have extremely limited value

         24  because the MMR as a document has become

         25  increasingly less meaningful under this
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          2  Administration.

          3                 There are a lesser number of

          4  indicators, there are less specific indicators, and

          5  there are less meaningful indicators. In my opinion,

          6  it is increased in its -- what has increased is the

          7  use of the MMR as a tough piece, if you will, to

          8  tout selective accomplishments of this

          9  Administration, as opposed to I think its original

         10  intent for this and other Mayors to try to

         11  understand how we are managing our agencies.

         12                 Now, again, I say that -- so as a

         13  result, the testimony that flows on a day like this

         14  I think has only limited value, with the exception

         15  of our first witness, who, again, I repeat, has

         16  always given both thoughtful and thorough testimony

         17  to this Committee.

         18                 We are joined by Council Member and

         19  member of the Committee Mike Abel, Guillermo

         20  Linares, and before we are done, as usual we expect

         21  to be joined, and almost always are, by the balance

         22  of the Committee, Council Members Eldridge, Malave

         23  Dilan, Watkins, Henry, Perkins and Rodriguez.

         24                 As you know, every witness who

         25  appears before the Committee is first addressed by
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          2  Counsel. I direct your attention to the Counsel of

          3  the Committee and we will begin.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

          5  your right hands.

          6                 Do you swear or affirm that the

          7  testimony you are about to give is the truth.

          8                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Yes, I do.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

         10  your name and affiliation for the record.

         11                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Marta Varela. I

         12  am the Chair of the New York City Commission on

         13  Human Rights and also a Commissioner.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You may begin.

         15                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chair. Thank you, Mr. Linares, and Council Member

         17  Abel. I am pleased t testify before the General

         18  Welfare Committee of the Council regarding the FY

         19  '99 Mayor's Management Report as it affects the New

         20  York City Commission on Human Rights.

         21                 Before I begin my formal testimony I

         22  just want to draw your attention to the attachments

         23  and the packet that you received.  Following my

         24  testimony you have a chart regarding the

         25  investigations closed per investigator per month in
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          2  the Law Enforcement Bureau. I also have the article

          3  reporting on our victory recently in the Pathmark

          4  case, as well as the full text of the decision in

          5  New York State Supreme Court, and I have also

          6  included the flyer for our 45th Anniversary legal

          7  conference at Fordham Law School, co-sponsored by

          8  the Urban Law Journal of Fordham University School

          9  of Law.

         10                 I want to begin my testimony by

         11  alluding to one item that was not mentioned in the

         12  formal testimony you have before you which was an

         13  unintentional omission, that is one of the

         14  accomplishments that we are most proud of in Fiscal

         15  Year 1999 is that decisions issued by the Commission

         16  have now become available on the West Law on-line

         17  service, as of December 31st, 1998, which makes it

         18  possible for students, practitioners, Council

         19  members, members of the public, to obtain direct

         20  printouts of our cases, our decisions on appeal.

         21  This is a standardization of our jurisprudence. As I

         22  am sure all of you know, it is standard practice in

         23  the courts to transfer the text of the decisions to

         24  an on-line legal service, West Law or Lexus, and we

         25  were very pleased that West Law thought that our
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          2  decisions were of enough significance in the area of

          3  anti-discrimination law to make the investment to

          4  bring them on line so that they would be more widely

          5  accessible.

          6                 And as to the formal testimony, I

          7  want to report to you, members of the Committee, Mr.

          8  Chair, that in Fiscal '99 the Law Enforcement Bureau

          9  closed a total of 904 cases and attains its highest

         10  level of average productivity.

         11                 Investigators in the Bureau closed on

         12  average 6.96 cases per month, without sacrificing

         13  constitutional due process protections.

         14  Parenthetically in Fiscal Year 1998, investigators

         15  closed an average of 6.29 cases per month, and the

         16  chart that is attached to the testimony illustrates

         17  the trajectory.

         18                 In Fiscal '99, 974 complaints were

         19  filed, 11 percent fewer than the 1,095 filed in

         20  Fiscal '98. We, as you know, do not have any control

         21  over how many cases present themselves to us in a

         22  particular fiscal year.

         23                 The Law Enforcement Bureau referred

         24  198 cases to mediation in FY '99, 51 percent fewer

         25  than the 405 cases referred in Fiscal '98. In Fiscal
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          2  '98 the entire caseload of two investigators who

          3  resigned, approximately 150 complaints was referred

          4  to mediation for reassignment to other

          5  investigators.

          6                 In Fiscal '99 the investigator who

          7  was promoted to an attorney position retained his

          8  cases and the other investigator's caseload was not

          9  referred to mediation.

         10                 The number of cases referred to the

         11  Office of Administrative Trials and Hearings, which

         12  is the forum before which our cases are tried,

         13  increased by 37.5 percent.

         14                 I want to talk a little bit about

         15  significant cases in the fastest growing area of our

         16  docket, which is the disability area. The Commission

         17  ordered a residential cooperative in Manhattan to

         18  install a wheelchair ramp and to pay $15,000 in

         19  emotional distress damages to a shareholder who has

         20  been a resident of the building since 1979 and who

         21  began to use a wheelchair in 1995. The resident had

         22  made numerous requests to the co-op's board of

         23  directors for the installation of a ramp for access

         24  to the building. Her requests were denied and she

         25  called a complaint on the basis of denial of
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          2  reasonable accommodation for access to her apartment

          3  in violation of the City's Human Rights Law, that is

          4  the Raymond versus 325 Central Park West, Inc.,

          5  case.

          6                 In June 1999, the New York State

          7  Supreme Court issued a decision ordering the owners

          8  of the Lucky Dog Diner to comply with the terms of

          9  the conciliation agreement that it had entered into

         10  with the Commission in 1998.

         11                 The agreement stipulated that the

         12  diner would construct a ramp at its entrance,

         13  because the diner failed to construct the agreed

         14  upon ramp, the Commission brought an enforcement

         15  action in the State Supreme Court. The judge imposed

         16  a fine of $50,000 on the diner and ordered it to

         17  construct the ramp.

         18                 While not part of the previous fiscal

         19  year, I would like to make the Council members aware

         20  of a significant case that will be described in the

         21  next MMR. In a recent enforcement action brought by

         22  the Commission, New York State Supreme Court Judge

         23  William P. McCooe issued a decision ordering

         24  Pathmark Stores, Inc., to comply with the terms of

         25  the conciliation agreement the supermarket chain had
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          2  reached with the commission in settlement of a

          3  complaint alleging discrimination on the basis of

          4  disability.

          5                 The conciliation agreement required

          6  Pathmark to take any and all actions necessary to

          7  provide accessibility at the main entrance of every

          8  supermarket in New York City for people who use

          9  wheelchairs or other motorized devices.

         10                 Spot checks by Commission staff had

         11  found that nine of Pathmarks 18 stores in the City

         12  were not in full compliance with the conciliation

         13  agreement.

         14                 Because Pathmark failed to fully

         15  comply with the terms of the conciliation agreement,

         16  Judge McCooe imposed a civil penalty of $25,000 and

         17  ordered Pathmark to come into full compliance with

         18  the settlement within 90 days and imposed a fine for

         19  $100 a day for every day after that 90-day period

         20  that the stores were not in full compliance.

         21                 In mediation and conflict resolution:

         22  While the total number of cases settled through

         23  mediation was eight percent fewer than planned due

         24  to the absence of each mediator because of illness

         25  we had a one-month break and family leave one month,
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          2  respectively the Office of Mediation and Conflict

          3  Resolution successfully settled 39 percent of the

          4  cases referred to it from the Law Enforcement

          5  Bureau, an increase of four percent from Fiscal Year

          6  '98, and I want to emphasize that our program is

          7  staffed by professional in-house mediators who are

          8  not a party, who are not members of the Law

          9  Enforcement Bureau but are a separate unit.

         10                 OMCR has created a new database for

         11  tracking the cases on its docket. This system will

         12  allow OMCR to diversify its analysis of case

         13  statistics and thereby to research methods of

         14  improving service to the public.

         15                 The OMCR brochure is now available in

         16  Spanish. The brochure is routinely distributed with

         17  the initial mailing of the complaint to complainants

         18  and respondents.

         19                 In the community relations area, and

         20  I know this is an area near and dear to the Council

         21  members, because we do have seven field offices

         22  throughout the City. The Community Relations

         23  Bureau's Neighborhood Human Rights Program served

         24  267,697 individuals during this reporting period,

         25  one percent less than the previous reporting period.
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          2                 The number of conferences, workshops

          3  and training sessions conducted continue to increase

          4  in Fiscal '99.

          5                 The 967 sessions of technical

          6  assistance to merchant and community organizations

          7  conducted during this reporting period was 18

          8  percent lower than the 1,176 sessions reporting

          9  during Fiscal Year '98. The number of requests made

         10  to the Commission determines the volume of technical

         11  assistance sessions conducted, therefore the number

         12  varies from year to year.

         13                 A second Human Rights Commission

         14  Youth Conference was held in October 1998. Students

         15  representing 23 high schools participated in

         16  workshops and learned how the City's Human Rights

         17  Law is applied in the areas of conflict resolution

         18  and mediation.

         19                 The Neighborhood Human Rights Program

         20  continues to place special emphasis on improving

         21  access for people with disabilities. NHRP staff

         22  facilitated modifications to more than 20 public

         23  accommodations and over ten residences so that they

         24  would be accessible to people with disabilities.

         25                 In addition, staff conducted training
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          2  for numerous advocacy and community groups,

          3  including Greenpoint Merchants, Brooklyn Community

          4  Board No. 1, Synergia, an organization servicing the

          5  hearing impaired, and the Bronx Center for the

          6  Independence of the Disabled.

          7                 Several NHRP field offices provided

          8  diversity training and training on Human Rights

          9  issues for organizations that serve the public.

         10  Manhattan field office completed a series of

         11  trainings in the Manhattan Hospital that reached 800

         12  workers. Flushing Field Office Staff participated in

         13  a multi-cultural program for postal workers at

         14  several sites, and staff at River Bank State Park

         15  participated in a series of workshops on cultural

         16  diversity and bias awareness given by the Manhattan

         17  Field Office.

         18                 Assistance was provided to

         19  neighborhood groups seeking to improve their housing

         20  conditions. The staff of the South Bronx field

         21  office, in conjunction with leaders of housing

         22  groups, such as the Aqueduct Home Owners Association

         23  and the Tremont Terrace Home Owners Association

         24  worked on a series of projects involving the

         25  resolution of a myriad of housing issues. They
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          2  helped them to resolve such issues as harassment by

          3  landlords and maintenance of diversity in their

          4  buildings and neighborhoods.

          5                 Staff of the Jamaica Field Office

          6  continues to provide mortgage counseling and have

          7  been active on the Citywide Foreclosure Task Force,

          8  which among other things has been monitoring

          9  possible instances of predatory lending by mortgage

         10  brokers.

         11                 I don't want to take too much of the

         12  Committee's time. I have quite a number of items

         13  regarding the activities of the Community Relations

         14  Bureau which I would be happy to expand upon. I did

         15  want to emphasize that we celebrated our 43rd

         16  anniversary during FY '99 by commemorating a

         17  historical landmark, the 50th Anniversary of the

         18  adoption and proclamation by the UN General Assembly

         19  of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights on

         20  December 10th, 1948.

         21                 On December 8th, 1998, the Commission

         22  sponsored an art exhibit of paintings inspired by

         23  the declaration in the rotunda of the Surrogates

         24  Court. The exhibit dedicated to the memory of

         25  Eleanor Roosevelt who spearheaded the adoption of
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          2  the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, also

          3  included photographs from the early history of the

          4  Civil Rights Movement in the United States, as well

          5  as a time line of significant dates in the history

          6  of international and human rights in the United

          7  States and New York City's civil rights history.

          8                 I want to talk a little bit about

          9  Year 2000 initiatives. But before that I just want

         10  to spend one little moment talking about Y2K. We

         11  have been moving forward a pace with that. We have

         12  actually developed our contingency plan ahead of

         13  schedule and are on target with respect to that. We

         14  are looking with great anticipation to the end of

         15  the year.

         16                 In terms of what we are planning for

         17  for the balance of the year, we are working very

         18  diligently on the conference that we will be having

         19  at Fordham Law School. I am hoping that Council

         20  members will attend. We are going to be treating a

         21  variety of areas, sexual harassment law, disability

         22  law, sexual orientation law, and we will be having a

         23  discussion on hate crimes legislation as the

         24  centerpiece of the luncheon program. So, I am hoping

         25  that all of you or some of you or members of your

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  staff will attend, as I think it promises to be a

          3  stimulating and serious conference.

          4                 So, with that I have talked about the

          5  MMR for '99 and I think I have given you a little

          6  bit of a hint of what we are planning for 2000, so I

          7  would be prepared to take any questions that you

          8  might have or clarify any parts of my testimony that

          9  were unclear.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         12  Commissioner. I just have one or two questions and

         13  my colleagues may have one or two.

         14                 In the area of domestic violence, a

         15  lot of work has been happening by advocates and

         16  coalitions of organizations that I work with, along

         17  with the Public Advocate Mark Green, in the area of

         18  trying to speak to the need of domestic violence

         19  victims in the work place. And I am wondering if

         20  there is any subset of information that you either

         21  have or could provide us that touch upon in any way

         22  that issue.

         23                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Yes, Mr. Chair.

         24  Actually, that is one of the topics that we will

         25  take up at the conference.
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          2                 I would merely highlight that there

          3  is some overlap in the disability area with respect

          4  to any accommodations required on the basis of

          5  physical and mental disability under the City's

          6  Human Rights Law.

          7                 As I am sure you are aware, the

          8  definition of disability under the City's Human

          9  Rights Law is overarching. It is any physical or

         10  mental disability, and the obligation of reasonable

         11  accommodation is no less strong than it is under the

         12  federal ADA, but it is in fact a more inclusive law.

         13  So, I think that one of the things that we should

         14  look to in trying to assist domestic violence

         15  victims in the work place is how we might more

         16  effectively apply the disability law to encourage

         17  employers to provide the accommodations that are

         18  mandated under the City's disability law.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That is

         20  interesting. We spent some time and have one piece

         21  of legislation. We will probably evolve to two or

         22  three, either two or three pieces or two or three

         23  parts to the final legislation, you know, the more

         24  final legislation, the notion that victims of

         25  domestic violence, particularly at the work place,
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          2  in other words, should be itself a protected class.

          3  So I don't know if you have a position or an opinion

          4  on that.

          5                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I am familiar

          6  with the legislation. I think that the legislation

          7  as currently drafted has certain technical

          8  infelicities, which would make it difficult to

          9  enforce effectively, which might better be shifted,

         10  in terms of the enforcement burden, on the agency,

         11  to the enforcement actions around disability.

         12                 I should also say that I think that

         13  public education is a very important aspect of this,

         14  and that we are now in fact planning to distribute

         15  at the conference on December 8th a brochure on the

         16  existing protections afforded domestic violence

         17  victims under the disability provisions of the City

         18  Human Rights Law.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         20  What we hope to do is work a little bit further on

         21  two more ideas, as I say the main theme of the

         22  legislation is there. But there have been some

         23  cities that have used executive orders, as it

         24  relates to their own workforce. There have been some

         25  states I believe that have talked about mandating
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          2  some leave time that in other words you are not

          3  punished so-to-speak for needing time off. So there

          4  are some additional ideas that the Public Advocate

          5  and I are working on, along with a whole host of

          6  advocates, and hopefully with other Council members

          7  here as well, hopefully we will be able to schedule

          8  a hearing just about these issues, have you as part

          9  of the array of witnesses, so thank you.

         10                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, I have

         12  one other question, and then I will turn it to my

         13  colleagues.

         14                 We have been joined by Council Member

         15  Bill Perkins. As I mentioned, members will be coming

         16  in and out all day because the MMR hearings are

         17  going on for many agencies at the same time.

         18                 Do people correspond with you by

         19  E.mail?

         20                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: They do.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And is there

         22  any sort of official protocol? Is it handled any

         23  differently than if I wrote you a letter, the old

         24  fashioned way?

         25                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: No. We seek to
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          2  answer the E.mail letters timely. And in fact the

          3  Mayor's Office has tracked City agencies with

          4  respect to the timeliness of their response.

          5                 We were unhappy to learn that

          6  according to their measurements, that we were behind

          7  schedule in terms of the timeliness of our response.

          8                 However, the time during which they

          9  measured us was the time at which we had had a

         10  computer crash in our system. So, that I think is an

         11  aberration and we do respond timely. We are not

         12  permitted -- we only have the ability through E.mail

         13  to receive correspondence. We cannot respond by

         14  E.mail to this correspondence that we receive.

         15                 Hopefully that is something that as

         16  part of our technology 2000 initiatives will be

         17  implemented.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

         19                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: But I think with

         20  the exception of that period of the computer crash,

         21  you would find that we respond timely. All of the

         22  E.mails go through the computer that is in my

         23  office, so we have pretty close oversight about the

         24  correspondence that we receive via E.mail.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.
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          2                 One last question. I was quite

          3  disturbed to read recently there were a number, I

          4  don't remember the exact number, of Work Experience

          5  participants, WEP Program participants, women who

          6  were, according to their accounts, harassed

          7  repeatedly at their assignments and wanted to bring

          8  an action, wanted to -- not to the Human Rights

          9  Commission, as I understand it, I guess to the

         10  employer. In any event, the Administration talked

         11  essentially, and somewhat shockingly said, well, you

         12  know, kind of too bad they are harassed, but they

         13  are not employees in the traditional sense and so

         14  they don't have particular rights, et cetera, et

         15  cetera, and I am trying to remember it as best I

         16  can.

         17                 In any event, could those folks file

         18  a complaint through the Human Rights Commission?

         19                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: They actually

         20  do. We have some complaints with respect to that.

         21  However, in terms of whether we are going to be able

         22  to move forward with that, you know, we are awaiting

         23  the outcome of the litigation on the underlying

         24  issue in terms of the fleshing out of our

         25  obligations in that context, but people have
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          2  actually come to us and filed some complaints.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And what does

          4  it potentially turn on. Do they have the right to

          5  come to you or not?

          6                 Doesn't every citizen of the city

          7  have a right to come --

          8                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Council member,

          9  I think I would be speaking out of school to try to

         10  flesh out for you and for this Committee the various

         11  legal theories that are currently litigated on

         12  account of the --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No, no. I

         14  meant in general. In other words, what is the

         15  trigger for someone being able to come to the Human

         16  Rights Commission?

         17                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Well, I think we

         18  agree here that the jurisdiction is based on one

         19  status --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Oh, okay.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: -- As an

         22  employee, the threshold is three or more employees.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I see. Okay.

         24  So, then it goes to that whole overall argument

         25  about their status as employees or non-employees. I
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          2  thought that was maybe to like bring a case to

          3  another jurisdictional body, and then they are

          4  citizens of New York so they can bring a case to

          5  you. I thought there was maybe some inherently --

          6                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: It is not based

          7  on their citizenship, it is based on their status as

          8  employees, or their status as people seeking a

          9  housing accommodation or as people seeking to enjoy

         10  a public accommodation.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So, what have

         12  you done with the cases that have been filed? Are

         13  they just held for now?

         14                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I am sorry?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Of the cases

         16  that have been filed, they are just held on obeyance

         17  now or?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Pending. Our

         19  action is stayed pending the outcome of the

         20  litigation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And the

         22  litigation is over their status; is that essentially

         23  what the litigation --

         24                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: It is over

         25  whether the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
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          2  was legally correct in defining them as employees

          3  for the purposes of Title VII, which we enforce as a

          4  federal employment practice agency with a contract

          5  from the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, that is

          7  helpful. Of course, it is nonetheless disturbing

          8  that the Administration would take, not you, but the

          9  Administration would take the position that they are

         10  really sorry that they are sexually harassed, but

         11  they are not employees so there is nothing they can

         12  do about it, whether perfectly legal thinking or not

         13  it is still somewhat troubling. But hopefully the

         14  courts will straighten it out and allow for some

         15  simple justice or the provision of the broadest

         16  possible provision of one's rights.

         17                 Let me turn to my colleagues. Council

         18  Member Linares and Council Member Perkins have some

         19  questions. And we have also been joined by Council

         20  Member Rodriguez, a member of the Committee.

         21                 Council Member Linares.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Good morning.

         23                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Good morning.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Commissioner,

         25  I want to ask you about the Law Enforcement Bureau,
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          2  and the actual staffing reductions that have taken

          3  place, and how you would reconcile those reductions

          4  with the increasing numbers of complaints.

          5                 I understand that the Bureau

          6  completes 5.75 investigations per investigator per

          7  month, and in the area of mediation a conflict

          8  resolution, settle 3.5 cases per mediator per month.

          9  Given the increased number of complaints, and the

         10  reduction, the drastic reduction that you have had

         11  in terms of staffing, how do you reconcile this?

         12                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Well, I don't

         13  seek to reconcile it, because I think in my

         14  presentations over the last six years, I think I

         15  have always been candid about the interrelationship

         16  between the in-flows of cases and the levels to

         17  which we can achieve increases in productivity and

         18  maintain constitutional due process protections.

         19                 You are not going to find in the case

         20  of the New York City Commission on Human Rights that

         21  our productivity increases have come at the expense

         22  of due process or adequate legal representation for

         23  complainants, however, I have never maintained that

         24  because we have increased our productivity that we

         25  are ahead of the curve in terms of our ability to
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          2  close as many cases in a year as we receive, and

          3  that is a relationship which is so dependent on the

          4  level of staffing that it would be disingenuous of

          5  me to suggest that it could be reconciled.

          6                 I mean, I think that you would find

          7  if you looked at our history, that in '94  when I

          8  came in I believe we were receiving 1,500 cases a

          9  year, so, you know, the number of cases we received

         10  is a moving target. And in fact during '95 and '96,

         11  we actually were able to decrease the backlog by

         12  over 300 cases in each year. However, like the Equal

         13  Employment Opportunity Commission, like the New York

         14  State Commission on Human Rights, our ability to

         15  close as many cases as we receive in a year and

         16  more, if we are going to eliminate a backlog, is

         17  directly dependent on the number of staff we have

         18  even working at the highest possible productivity

         19  level.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Well, I

         21  noticed that in 1995 you had 1,142 investigations

         22  completed and that number has gone down in '99 to

         23  713.

         24                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I think we need

         25  to clarify that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Well, in '95

          3  you have 23 staff investigators, and in '99 you have

          4  8.5. Now, you know, there is a concern that while we

          5  want to keep the quality of the investigation, as

          6  you pointed out, to be according to the standards

          7  that those investigations ought to maintain, at the

          8  same time when there is less staffing, there is

          9  greater pressure to yield results and the number of

         10  investigations increased, something has to give when

         11  you have to reconcile those two. And that is an area

         12  of concern that I am raising here.

         13                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I appreciate the

         14  concern as a potentiality. However, I would say that

         15  as a concern it is not an actuality. You know, I

         16  would be ready to have our process evaluated in

         17  terms of the question that you raise, because I am

         18  confident that the agency proceeds in terms of its

         19  investigations on the basis of the legal

         20  considerations at issue and not on the basis of the

         21  kind of considerations that might operate in a

         22  manufacturing scheme.

         23                 We are not a complaints processing

         24  factory. We are an administrative law agency, and I

         25  could not stand here -- well, I am not standing, I
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          2  am sitting -- I could not sit here, let alone stand

          3  before you, and tell you that I do not share your

          4  concern about the effectiveness of our ability to

          5  investigate cases timely, notwithstanding our high

          6  levels of productivity. But I will never yield to a

          7  pressure to slamdunk cases to meet artificial

          8  targets that are completely unrelated to the merits

          9  of the case that is presented.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I guess my

         11  concern stems from what I perceive to be a thin line

         12  between the quality of intervention that the agency

         13  pursues and at the same time the demands that are

         14  there, given the volume that you have. And the

         15  stress, I mean this is a very delicate intervention

         16  that you are engaging with, and I am concerned that

         17  there is a thin line now that we are walking here

         18  that needs to be reconciled and without additional

         19  resources to help address the higher demands on the

         20  staff. Given the productivity and all of the changes

         21  that have taken place over and above that, I think

         22  that is a concern that I just want to put on the

         23  record, and I was just wondering what drives the

         24  complaints that come to the agency?

         25                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: That is a
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          2  unilateral matter of the complainants motivation to

          3  come to us with the complaint. I mean, I think we do

          4  quite a bit of outreach through our public

          5  information office. I can't put my finger on what

          6  accounts for our having one year with more

          7  complaints than another. It is a matter that is

          8  without our control. But I did want to return to the

          9  point you are making about your concern about

         10  productivity to just clarify. I mean, I think the

         11  agency feels the pressure. I don't think it would be

         12  accurate to characterize individual staff as being

         13  pressured to produce.

         14                 I certainly would welcome additional

         15  resources, and I certainly believe that if we had

         16  more investigators that we would be as efficient

         17  within this constitutional framework, as is

         18  required, and I think that the concern that you

         19  raise would quickly be proven to be strictly a

         20  matter of how many bodies we are able to staff as

         21  investigators in the Law Enforcement Bureau and not

         22  an issue of are we pressuring investigators to

         23  slamdunk cases.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I think that

         25  you basically define what the essence of the concern
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          2  is behind the question, and I think it is something

          3  we ought to have very much in mind because I think

          4  the fact that we have higher demand for intervention

          5  needs to be addressed, and I don't see any other way

          6  but to further resources.

          7                 I know my time has gone out, but I

          8  did have to raise questions about how your

          9  engagement in terms of police community relations, I

         10  am curious as to the extent that the agencies

         11  involved with young people, youth, the issue of

         12  mediation, and to what extent you connect with the

         13  school system in such efforts. I mean, there are a

         14  number of other areas that I am curious about to the

         15  extent to which your experience intervening in

         16  critical areas where citizens need to be protected

         17  to what extent what you do connects to the teaching

         18  that takes place in the classroom or the training

         19  that takes place in City University, and the likes.

         20                 I am curious about to what extent

         21  there is proactive connecting with those other

         22  institutions, or agencies, that could go a long way

         23  in helping shape future lawyers and defenders of

         24  human rights.

         25                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: If the Chair
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          2  will allow me to respond to the Council Member's

          3  question?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Sure.

          5                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Just briefly.

          6  First of all, I thank you for your support of our

          7  prosecutorial processes, and as to our involvement

          8  in the educational processes, I couldn't agree with

          9  you more. In terms of eliminating discrimination, it

         10  is so important to support educating the young. And

         11  we do that through our school partnership program,

         12  which pairs students from different demographic

         13  areas in a partnership program that extends through

         14  the school year and is geared toward secondary high

         15  school students and takes up all sorts of issues

         16  around cultural and legal issues related to civil

         17  rights.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Did you have

         19  internships?

         20                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Yes, we do. And

         21  in fact, one of my goals, in fact, over the summer,

         22  where we have the Summer Youth Employment Program,

         23  and I think I testified as to this, but when we were

         24  transferring our cases from text to computer format,

         25  we trained high school students over the summer in
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          2  how to use computers, in addition to giving them a

          3  grounding in the agency's functions. And finally,

          4  the conference that we just had at the Borough of

          5  Manhattan Community College in collaboration with

          6  the Conference of Non-Governmental Organizations at

          7  the United Nations, I am very pleased to report to

          8  you that we had 400 attendees, a cross section of

          9  not only community-based organizations, but school

         10  groups, children from the New-comer School and from,

         11  associated with Global Kids, and that was one of the

         12  focuses of the conference, not just to reach

         13  community-based organizations and talk to them about

         14  plugging into the United Nations, but also to reach

         15  students and give them some more information about

         16  civil rights and human rights. So, that is an

         17  integral part of our planning when we look at how we

         18  can advance the goals of the Human Rights Law.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Council Member

         22  Perkins, and then we are done with this section of

         23  today's hearing.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         25  very much. I don't have too much to ask. What is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  your responsibility with regard to the

          3  discrimination taking place in the taxi industry?

          4                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: People can file

          5  complaints with us as well as with the Taxi and

          6  Limousine Commission, so in effect, they can, if

          7  they so choose, have a two-pronged strategy, to

          8  prosecute perpetrators of discrimination among the

          9  hack license holders. And I should also say we have

         10  a brochure that we developed in collaboration with

         11  the TLC explaining precisely that and how to file a

         12  complaint with us, as well as with the TLC.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you have

         14  records of complaints that have been filed?

         15                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: All of our

         16  complaints are recorded on our automated

         17  computerized case tracking system.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Can you give

         19  us an idea of the numbers of complaints you have

         20  received in that particular area?

         21                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I can't off the

         22  top of my head, but I would be happy to supply the

         23  information. And if you would like me to pull the --

         24  the initial complaint is a matter of public record,

         25  I would be happy to provide you with copies.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, I would

          3  like that, if it is okay with the chair, to get that

          4  information.

          5                 I would also like to know if your

          6  records indicate an increase in this type of

          7  discrimination in terms of complaints or decrease?

          8  What can you tell us at all about this? Nothing?

          9                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: A limited

         10  amount, since I didn't anticipate that you would ask

         11  me about this. But you know, on an anecdotal basis

         12  we have not noticed a sharp uptick in the number of

         13  complaints.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And are you

         15  at all involved in the industry in terms of trying

         16  to address this, other than the brochure? Do you see

         17  some need to take some proactive or direct action?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I mean, we are

         19  always available to do trainings. I mean, we --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are you doing

         21  training?

         22                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: We have not been

         23  asked to do training. We would certainly be happy to

         24  do training. We can't impose trainings, but we can

         25  certainly provide trainings, as we do for a variety
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          2  of organizations, merchants organizations,

          3  community-based organizations, school boards.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And that

          5  training, that request usually comes from the

          6  customer so-to-speak?

          7                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Yes. It could

          8  come from anyone. It could come from a third party.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So if we

         10  wanted you to do training with respect to the Taxi

         11  and Limousine Commission, we can expect that to

         12  happen?

         13                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I think that if

         14  you put us together, if you coordinate it, yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         16                 I don't know too much about your

         17  agency and I just want to get a sense of, how are

         18  you staffed?

         19                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: 131 people, 14

         20  attorneys. I think that the substance of my

         21  testimony talks to you a little bit about the

         22  procedures in terms of complaint handling.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Are the

         24  attorneys also the investigators?

         25                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: No.
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          2                 I will give you the numbers in just a

          3  second. I guess what might be helpful is if I give

          4  you a quick outline of our process, which is that

          5  anyone can come into our offices and file a

          6  complaint. The computerized program permits us to

          7  generate a complaint the same day, provided the

          8  complainant comes in with the particulars of the

          9  respondent's/defendant's name and address. The

         10  matter is investigated for the purpose of

         11  determining whether there is probable cause, which

         12  is a judgment as to whether the conduct of that

         13  complaint occurred or not, and at the trial level,

         14  if the matter is not mediated, we have a full range

         15  of remedies, compensatory damages in any amount,

         16  injunctive relief and in egregious cases civil

         17  penalties up to $50,000. Any appeals are handled in

         18  the New York State Supreme Court.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I guess what

         20  I was trying to get at is I was trying to see what

         21  kind of diversity do we have at your Commission, in

         22  terms of, you know, African-Americans, Latinos,

         23  other so-called minorities --

         24                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Again, I would

         25  be happy --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: -- Women, so

          3  on and so forth.

          4                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I would be happy

          5  to. The Equal Employment Practices Commission

          6  surveys the field. I would be happy to provide you

          7  with that information.

          8                 As you know, we operate within a

          9  civil service system, so passing the civil service

         10  exam for positions is often a prerequisite to a

         11  higher --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Which

         13  positions are appointed?

         14                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: The executive

         15  staff.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, the

         17  attorneys are civil service?

         18                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And who are

         20  the executives? What are the executive staff?

         21                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: The Commission

         22  chair, Deputy Commissioner for the Law Enforcement

         23  Bureau, the Managing Attorney, the Deputy

         24  Commissioner for the Community Relations Bureau, the

         25  General Counsel, and that covers it.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What is the

          3  diversity picture there?

          4                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I am Hispanic,

          5  the General Counsel is African-American. There are

          6  European-American Law Enforcement Bureau, Deputy

          7  Commissioner, Managing Attorney. And I think that

          8  covers the five.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         10  very much.

         11                 I would appreciate that information

         12  regarding the Taxi and Limousine instances of

         13  complaints or discrimination and how those

         14  complaints have been handled.

         15                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I would be happy

         16  to do that. I think we also have, the Deputy

         17  Commissioner reminded me, some case law on that as

         18  well.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, thank

         20  you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I think what

         22  we will do is we will have Counsel to the Committee

         23  sort of memorialize the request, and then you can

         24  send one package to him and he will distribute it to

         25  all the members.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: Okay, happy to

          3  do it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          5                 Thank you, Council member.

          6                 That will end this portion of the MMR

          7  hearing. Commissioner, it is always a pleasure to

          8  see you. I hope that we will be able to do at least

          9  one but perhaps two things over the course of the

         10  next year. One, have a hearing focused on domestic

         11  violence issues, work place domestic violence

         12  issues. And two, there is some turnover that occurs

         13  in the Council and the Committee and so there may be

         14  some need to do another somewhat general oversight,

         15  particularly in the area of how the complaints come

         16  in and how they are processed and some of the

         17  outreach activities that you engage in. I will have

         18  Counsel think about how we might be able to

         19  structure that and we will let you know, so we may

         20  see you more than just at MMR time.

         21                 COMMISSIONER VARELA: I look forward.

         22  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You are quite

         24  welcome. Okay, this section of the hearing is

         25  closed, now we are scheduled to have the Department
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          2  of Employment, although I have been informed by

          3  Counsel that the Department of Employment is not

          4  showing up today.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Who is the

          6  Commissioner for that?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That is our

          8  former colleague Antonio Pagan.

          9                 My understanding is that Commissioner

         10  Pagan, I am not sure but my understanding is he

         11  would prefer to come only once, and it is apparently

         12  too much trouble to come to this Committee to

         13  discuss adult programs, which is our jurisdiction,

         14  and then another day to discuss youth employment

         15  programs, which is the jurisdiction of the Youth

         16  Committee. I am not sure why that is too much

         17  trouble, when you are a Commissioner that is paid to

         18  be a Commissioner full time, but that is what I have

         19  been told.

         20                 Now, it may have something to do with

         21  the following, and let's just put this on the

         22  record, that the agency has fallen short of its

         23  target numbers in terms of if you look at the MMR in

         24  providing assessment, training and placement

         25  services. It has fallen short of its target with
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          2  numbers for providing assessment, training and

          3  placement service to public assistance recipients.

          4  It has failed to include in the MMR indicators that

          5  the Council has requested to have contracts

          6  disaggregated by boroughs, to have program

          7  participation disaggregated by type of program, to

          8  have average income of after placement disaggregated

          9  by program and jobs, to have participants employed

         10  or in educational placements after 180 days tracked,

         11  to have the average number of participants who

         12  return to DOE for services within a year

         13  disaggregated by type of job training program, none

         14  of those indicators have been put in.

         15                 In addition, DOE has failed to meet

         16  four or five objectives associated with the single

         17  goal for adult employment services. The goal itself

         18  may no longer even apply to DOE as most of its core

         19  adult service functions have been taken over by HRA.

         20                 HRA's policy goals in recent years

         21  did not match comfortably with DOE's traditional

         22  emphasis on outreach and assessment and training

         23  prior to job placement. It would be interesting to

         24  observe HRA's formulation of initiatives for the use

         25  of JTPA funding, since they have such a different
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          2  orientation.

          3                 In any event, that is the story on

          4  the Department of Employment, and we will of course

          5  direct Counsel to write the appropriate letter to

          6  the Commissioner indicating the unsatisfactory, how

          7  his lack of appearance, how unsatisfactory that is.

          8  So, I am not so sure that in the longrun there is

          9  going to be anything else but the Department of

         10  Employment to tell us if it all ends up in HRA. But

         11  at the moment it exists and he should have been

         12  here.

         13                 Now, the next agency is the

         14  Administration for Children's Services. Is ACS here?

         15  We will take a 60-second break as the witnesses are

         16  getting ready.

         17                 (Recess taken.)

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: This is the

         19  portion of the hearing devoted to the Administration

         20  for Children's Services. All witnesses are first

         21  addressed by counsel. I direct your attention to the

         22  Counsel to the Committee.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         24  your right hands.

         25                 Do you swear or affirm the testimony
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          2  you are about to give is the truth, the whole truth

          3  and nothing but the truth?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:  I do.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHARVAT: I do.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

          7  your names and affiliations for the record.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: My

          9  name is Elizabeth Cucchiaro. I am Deputy

         10  Commissioner for Administration at the

         11  Administration for Children's Services.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHARVAT: My

         13  name is Benjamin Charvat, Assistant Commissioner,

         14  Development and Research, Administration for

         15  Children's Services.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You can begin.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Okay.

         18  Good morning.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Excuse me. We

         20  have been joined by Council Member Ronnie Eldridge,

         21  a member of the Committee. You can begin.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Good

         23  morning, Chairman DiBrienza, and members of the

         24  General Welfare Committee. Today it is really a

         25  pleasure to discuss the performance of the
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          2  Administration for Children's Services for Fiscal

          3  Year '99 as reported in the MMR.

          4                 ACS has really made extensive

          5  progress over the past year in its efforts to

          6  continue reforming child welfare services, day care

          7  and child support enforcement services.

          8                 While we are pleased of the

          9  accomplishments of ACS, we continue to look at

         10  innovative ways to enhance the quality of our

         11  services and to continue this progress toward more

         12  achievement.

         13                 To identify areas in which ACS can

         14  improve the delivery of services, ACS has created

         15  quality leadership teams which establish a

         16  comprehensive quality assurance process. The teams

         17  are comprised of line staff, management and they

         18  meet monthly to assess and make recommendations for

         19  practice in child protective services, foster care,

         20  family preservation, adoption and case management.

         21  In fact, the teams are starting to look at

         22  administration and they have begun to look at our

         23  personnel operation as their first effort in this

         24  phase.

         25                 The assessments are used to enhance

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  case practice by identifying areas in which

          3  improvement is needed and recommending the best case

          4  practices for each specific service area. Additional

          5  teams will continue to be established throughout

          6  Fiscal Year 2000.

          7                 In addition to, we call them QLTs,

          8  Quality Leadership Teams, ACS is working with the

          9  Special Child Welfare Advisory Panel which consists

         10  of a team of renown child welfare experts. This

         11  panel was constituted in accordance with the

         12  resolution of the federal class action lawsuit

         13  Marisol versus Giuliani, and Wilder versus

         14  Bernstein, and they assess the progress of the

         15  agency reforms and provide recommendation on how to

         16  continue reforming New York City's child welfare

         17  system.

         18                 Three reports were issued by the

         19  panel during Fiscal Year 1999 addressing family

         20  permanency, placement and contract agency

         21  monitoring.

         22                 The most recent report recommended

         23  that ACS coordinate its communication to the

         24  contract agencies to ensure that a consistent

         25  message is conveyed to these agencies.
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          2                 As a result, ACS has selected a point

          3  person who will coordinate information from each

          4  division and transmit such information to the

          5  contract agencies. The panel continues to evaluate

          6  and monitor ACS, and will issue reports on

          7  front-line staff practice and supervisory practice

          8  in FY 2000.

          9                 As part of this ongoing plan to

         10  enhance services for children and families, ACS has

         11  increased the educational requirements and

         12  accountability of its child welfare staff. Two new

         13  title series, The Child Protective Specialist and

         14  the Child Welfare Specialist, were established in

         15  November '98. These titles have provided for more

         16  competitive salaries and merit-based raises, as well

         17  as higher performance standards for staff members.

         18                 In addition, we have increased the

         19  number of child protective service workers to 979 in

         20  Fiscal Year 1999, from 862 at the end of Fiscal

         21  1998. In fact, the number of protective diagnostic

         22  caseworkers is currently, our headcount currently is

         23  1,181, which is 131 over our headcount. This

         24  increase has been approved by the Administration.

         25                 This, in conjunction with the
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          2  improvements in case processing transfer practice

          3  and management changes has allowed us to reduce the

          4  average protective worker caseload to 12.8 in FY

          5  1999, down from 13.7 in 1998, and 24 in 1996.

          6                 To further promote high performance

          7  standards and to encourage ACS staff to seek a

          8  graduate degree in social work, the master's in

          9  social work scholarship program has been continued

         10  in FY 2000.

         11                 This year $2.7 million was allocated

         12  to provide 205 new scholarships for a total of

         13  approximately 377 ACS staff members who are enrolled

         14  in MSW programs.

         15                 In May of 1999, 94 ACS staff members

         16  who participated in this program received their

         17  master's degree.

         18                 In Fiscal Year 1999, ACS received

         19  54,673 reports of suspected child abuse and neglect,

         20  involving 83,447 children. This is a 5.3 decrease

         21  from the 57,732 reports, involving 88,444 children

         22  received in Fiscal Year 1998.

         23                 This decrease can be attributed to

         24  much more aggressive community work, working into

         25  the communities in a great level.
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          2                 There has also been a 15 percent

          3  decrease in the number of children admitted into

          4  foster care in the past year. In Fiscal Year 1999,

          5  10,646 children entered foster care for the first

          6  time, compared with 12,536 children who were placed

          7  the previous year.

          8                 The total number of children in

          9  foster care has also significantly decreased. As of

         10  August 1999, which is this current fiscal year,

         11  35,419 children were in foster care, which is a

         12  considerable drop from the 40,939 children in care

         13  in Fiscal Year 1998.

         14                 In 1997 the foster care population

         15  reached almost 43,000. This decline is due to the

         16  emphasis on increased referrals to preventive

         17  services, the use of alternatives to foster care

         18  placement, and improved caseworker and supervisory

         19  training. The number of cases referred to preventive

         20  services programs has increased from 2,289 in FY

         21  '98, to 3,060 cases in FY 1999.

         22                 While the total number of children

         23  entering foster care has decreased, the number of

         24  children entering kinship foster care has increased

         25  by seven percent to 2,201 during Fiscal Year 1999.
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          2                 ACS is dedicated to really making all

          3  efforts to place children with relatives whenever

          4  possible.

          5                 In FY 1998, only 16 percent of

          6  children placed in foster care were placed in a

          7  kinship home, and in FY 1999 21 percent of children

          8  were placed in kinship homes.

          9                 During the past year, 97.8 percent of

         10  all allegations were investigated within 24 hours of

         11  receipt, an increase from the previous year and we

         12  intend for this number to reach 100 percent.

         13                 To improve response time in the

         14  quality of investigations, instant response teams

         15  were created to respond to reports of severe abuse

         16  and neglect cases in a rapid manner.

         17                 These IRTs coordinate services from

         18  ACS, the NYPD and all of the DAs offices, to provide

         19  immediate and comprehensive investigations while

         20  minimizing the trauma to children during the

         21  process.

         22                 Over 1,500 cases have been responded

         23  to by the IRT since the creation of the program.

         24                 In July 1999, the IRT coordinators

         25  began a pilot to work with the NYPD in cases
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          2  involving domestic violence. The 72 child safety

          3  conferences, initially a pilot program in the Queens

          4  field office, has now been expanded to all five

          5  boroughs.

          6                 This program brings together parents,

          7  caseworkers, and members of the Family Support

          8  Network within three to five days of the child being

          9  removed from the home with the purpose of developing

         10  a plan to ensure the family receives the services as

         11  needed to allow the child to return safely home.

         12                 Many times these conferences can

         13  facilitate an earlier discharge for a child because

         14  it allows all of the parties to work together and

         15  more fully and accurately assess the situation.

         16                 This program furthers ACS' goal to

         17  safely return children to their home as quickly as

         18  possible. We don't want children to languish in

         19  care.

         20                 The Special Child Welfare Advisory

         21  Panel has praised this practice as an effective

         22  method for ensuring that a child will not remain in

         23  foster care any longer than is absolutely necessary.

         24                 ACS, and the Vera Institute created

         25  Project Confirm, together with the Department of
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          2  Juvenile Justice, Probation and the Family Courts.

          3  The program is used to quickly identify an arrest of

          4  youth, and to look at their foster care status, to

          5  help ensure that young people who cannot be released

          6  due to the absence of a guardian, are not placed in

          7  a DJJ facility if they rightly should be placed in

          8  an ACS site.

          9                 Implemented citywide in Fiscal Year

         10  1999, Project Confirm enables the NYPD to notify ACS

         11  of all juvenile arrests before the juveniles appear

         12  in court on low level charges. This helps ensure

         13  that foster children are not inappropriately

         14  detained and treated differently than non-foster

         15  children, only because they don't have a guardian to

         16  represent them.

         17                 If the adolescent's foster care

         18  status is determined at an early point, ACS will

         19  have the ability to become involved and provide the

         20  appropriate representation and support required.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Commissioner?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: It is

         23  long, right?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, it is

         25  eight pages. I was just wondering if, as you get to
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          2  each new item, you know them very well, if you could

          3  just, you know, for the record we want it all but

          4  you might be able to say this is this program --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Okay,

          6  fine.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Unless you

          8  think that slows you up?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I will

         10  try to go ahead like that as much as I can, and then

         11  if I feel the need, I will go back to the testimony.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: ACS

         14  has really initiated an effort to ensure that

         15  appropriate services are provided to gay and lesbian

         16  youth, and currently we have staff who are being

         17  trained. The training will begin on November 29th,

         18  1999, continuing through April 2000. This will

         19  include ACS staff and contract agency staff.

         20                 This will, we hope, enable staff to

         21  speak more comfortably with gay and lesbian youth

         22  and to deal more appropriately, and understand their

         23  needs and issues.

         24                 Also, one of our big concerns has

         25  been ensuring that appropriate medical services are
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          2  provided and we have begun medical services

          3  management units to evaluate the medical services

          4  that young people are receiving.

          5                 One of the important guiding

          6  principals we have is permanency for children. And

          7  in February 1999, the New York State Legislature, in

          8  conformance with federal legislation, passed ASFA,

          9  Adoption and Safe Families Act. This has very

         10  specific guidelines, policy guidelines regarding

         11  permanency and ACS is making every effort to ensure

         12  that the children are placed in permanent homes in

         13  conformance with the ASFA guidelines.

         14                 We have also provided training to the

         15  Family Court, Family Court Juvenile Rights Division,

         16  and ACS has been very active, proactive, in offering

         17  training to its own staff.

         18                 One of the important components of

         19  this, and something that we had really wanted to

         20  happen, was that ASFA requires that a criminal

         21  history review of all foster and adopted households

         22  be obtained by obtaining fingerprints of prospective

         23  foster or adoptive parents and all household members

         24  over the age of 15. Everyone has been trained on

         25  this and we have begun the fingerprinting process
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          2  for all new applicants for foster care, as well as

          3  for all foster parents who are being recertified to

          4  provide care.

          5                 Preventive services, as I mentioned

          6  earlier, the number of cases that have been referred

          7  to preventive services has increased by 42.3 percent

          8  in Fiscal Year '99. ACS is collaborating with the

          9  Department of Probation to refer ACS families to

         10  Juvenile Substance Abuse, Violence Prevention

         11  Programs, in an effort to reduce or prevent

         12  dysfunctional criminal behavior.

         13                 And in addition, ACS has joined with

         14  the Board of Ed and HRA to establish and education

         15  program that promotes school attendance for children

         16  with funding receipts for TANF.

         17                 There is currently a pilot program

         18  which began in June and ran, will run through June

         19  2000. It is with three contracted agencies providing

         20  services at four schools.

         21                 Moving right along here.

         22                 Neighborhood-based services, and I

         23  know this was a concern you had last time. We have

         24  in fact contracted with 35 providers to offer

         25  community-based services in the Bronx. The contract

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            55

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  began at the beginning of the Fiscal Year and we are

          3  currently working in a very positive vain with these

          4  providers. In fact, the numbers of children who are

          5  being placed in CBs has begun to show some slight

          6  increase.

          7                 And in addition, we currently have

          8  issued this Citywide, or are in the process of

          9  making determinations and will be awarding contracts

         10  for the remainder of the City.

         11                 I am going really fast now. During

         12  Fiscal Year 1999, 3,800 adoptions were finalized, 41

         13  percent of them were kinship, which is really a high

         14  number of kinship cases.

         15                 This has helped ACS achieve its

         16  record of 18,987 adoptions over five years.

         17                 ACS has also partnered with Freddie

         18  MAC Foundation, NBC Channel 4, to develop

         19  Wednesday's Child. This segment appears weekly on

         20  NBC and features a hard-to-place child or sibling

         21  group in need of adoption.

         22                 In terms of legal, a settlement has

         23  been reached in Freeman versus Scoppetter, which was

         24  around our fair hearing process and it was approved

         25  by the Court on November 5th. This settlement
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          2  requires ACS to reduce its backlog of fair hearing

          3  cases by 50 percent within 30 days. So, it set a

          4  target for us and eliminate all backlogged cases

          5  within a following 30 days. So this has been a rigid

          6  timeline that has been set.

          7                 Once the backlog gets eliminated,

          8  full compliance will be maintained thereafter. That

          9  is our goal.

         10                 Child care. A total of 77,152

         11  children were enrolled in ACS's Agency for Child

         12  Development Programs, which includes 59,743 in the

         13  contracted and voucher programs, and 17,409 in

         14  Headstart.

         15                 I believe many of the questions you

         16  may have regarding day care were directed and

         17  addressed on Monday in a hearing with the day care

         18  services, so I will kind of skim this.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You are doing

         20  fine. Go ahead. Take your time.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: In

         22  Fiscal Year '99, the Office of Child Support

         23  Enforcement collected a record 351.7 million in

         24  child support payments, an increase of 11 percent,

         25  from 307.8 million in Fiscal Year '98. While the
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          2  collections for PA recipients decreased by 97.8

          3  million due to a decline in PA caseload, the

          4  collection for non-PA recipients increased by 17

          5  percent, to 253 million.

          6                 A recent court decision requires

          7  parents who are delinquent in making child support

          8  payments to participate in work programs. As a

          9  result, OCSE has contracted with a not-for-profit

         10  organization to ensure job training for over 186

         11  parents at this point. And another goal for OCSE is

         12  to establish fraternity in hospitals, and this has

         13  been increased by 65 percent of City births to

         14  unmarried mothers by the end of the Fiscal Year.

         15                 Technology. During Fiscal Year '99,

         16  the New York State Connection System was reviewed by

         17  a consultant hired by the Governor's Office of

         18  Technology. The outcome of this review was to have

         19  all activities associated with Connections

         20  coordinated by the Governor's Office, and they are

         21  being very proactive at this point and have begun a

         22  series of meetings to renegotiate their SACWIS

         23  obligations, State Automated Child Welfare

         24  Information System.

         25                 All of our ACS computer systems are
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          2  Y2K compliant, and all of our systems, the MIS

          3  systems development, have been completed and

          4  remediated so that they too are Y2K compliant.

          5                 Our highlights for Fiscal Year 2000,

          6  while ACS has made many advances over the past year,

          7  we are still looking to the future. The Bellevue

          8  Children's Center, which is the first space designed

          9  specifically for child welfare purposes is proposed

         10  to be opened in September of 2000, and the

         11  construction on that facility is 32 percent complete

         12  at this point. So, we are moving right along.

         13                 As you recall, that will house the

         14  emergency children's services, the Satterwhite

         15  Academy, as well as the preplacement needs of

         16  children.

         17                 And we have made extensive progress

         18  reforming the child welfare system in New York City

         19  over the past few years, and we will continue to

         20  ensure that children of this City are receiving the

         21  necessary and appropriate caring services.

         22                 I hope my comments have been helpful

         23  to the Committee and we will be happy, both of us

         24  will be happy to answer any questions you may have.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  Commissioner. I appreciate the edits. The entire

          3  testimony will be placed in the record. Each member

          4  of course has a copy.

          5                 We have been joined by Council Member

          6  Watkins, also a member of this Committee. So, as I

          7  anticipated more and more of the members are either

          8  here or some have stepped inside where there is a

          9  hearing also going on.

         10                 Let me put this clock on for myself.

         11  I have some questions.

         12                 Personally, where is the

         13  Commissioner?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: The

         15  Commissioner had something with the Mayor today, I

         16  am not really sure what it was.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I always look

         18  forward to seeing him. You have done a fine job, but

         19  certainly tell him we look forward to seeing him in

         20  the future.

         21                 I am concerned that whenever we talk

         22  about foster care, and child welfare, whether here

         23  at City Hall at our hearings, we have gone through

         24  some of the communities of this City, are hearing

         25  more and more people report that at the drop of a
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          2  hat, to use the cliche, ACS, because of the

          3  direction from the leadership, ACS workers, are

          4  pulling kids repeatedly. The story is told to us

          5  over and over again, and in increasing numbers,

          6  without full investigation, and that seems to be

          7  exactly opposite from some of the statistics you are

          8  presenting. What do you think is going on, what

          9  accounts for that?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         11  can't account for the public perception. I can say

         12  that workers do use protocols and judgment and go to

         13  supervisors prior to any removal and often to court

         14  prior to a removal.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Didn't you

         16  just lose a case because you were doing it without

         17  court approval and the courts ordered you to get

         18  their approval for what was so-called emergency

         19  removals, the court found you were abusing that

         20  privilege?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         22  really am not familiar with that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: This recent

         24  court decision that said you have to --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I am
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          2  not familiar with that. I am sorry.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Well, I

          4  am sorry. Go on.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: And

          6  essentially they use a high risk protocol, which

          7  helps them guide them through a child protective

          8  review of the needs of a family and to see whether

          9  or not children are at grave risk.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well,

         11  something is wrong. That many people, and we had

         12  witness after witness testify about it, I have

         13  raised this issue and we can cross-reference to you

         14  some of the testimony, if necessary.

         15                 Let me expand that. For example, in

         16  the areas of domestic violence, it is my

         17  understanding that if the police are called to

         18  domestic violence situations, ACS has a component of

         19  that, ACS is either called or goes with them, and

         20  the existence of domestic violence, as ugly and

         21  terrible as that is, has apparently in more and more

         22  cases led ACS to take the children, simply

         23  suggesting that either the witnessing of or either

         24  the existence of domestic violence is in and of

         25  itself abuse and neglect, more often than not the
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          2  woman is battered, more often than not she is

          3  terrified of being involved in the system because

          4  then you might take her kids. Why is that what we

          5  get in our testimony from every advocate group that

          6  comes before us?

          7                 DEPUTY CUCCHIARO: I can't answer why

          8  a division of an advocate group. I can give you some

          9  hard facts that approximately 49 percent of child

         10  fatalities of children in New York City in 1998

         11  involved a history of domestic violence. I can tell

         12  you that --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Which means

         14  that that is the reason you do it? Let's talk to

         15  whether you do it or not. Is it the position of the

         16  agency that the existence of domestic violence and

         17  being called to the scene is in and of itself reason

         18  to pull the kid?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         20  think an assessment is done to see whether or not

         21  the child is at risk. I believe our main mission is

         22  ensuring the safety and well being of children, as

         23  well as providing permanent. And if a child is at

         24  risk because of a particular domestic violent

         25  situation, that would --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Ms. Cucchiaro,

          3  with all due respect, I am not asking you that. If

          4  you go through some process of determining real

          5  risk. I am asking whether you have a bias in the

          6  legal sense of the word towards taking the child

          7  just based on the existence of domestic violence?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No, we

          9  do not.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That is what

         11  has been testified to us repeatedly, that the

         12  occurrence, the occurrence of the domestic violence

         13  is a reason for you, you know, your agency to take

         14  the child. And while ultimately if there was danger

         15  and documented, you know, a whole set of conditions

         16  that required protecting the child, no one is going

         17  to ask you to put a child at risk. But the question

         18  is whether in short the pendulum is swung so far as

         19  that you pull consistently and constantly without

         20  that being established, and that is what we are told

         21  repeatedly.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: To my

         23  knowledge, it would be one of the elements that one

         24  would look at when it is conducting a safety

         25  investigation or a child protective investigation,
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          2  in and of itself. If it can be ensured that the

          3  batterer is not going to batter the children and

          4  that the children are not at risk because of the

          5  volatile domestic violence situation, the children

          6  would not automatically be removed.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Two more

          8  questions, and then I will remove to the next and I

          9  will go to a second round, because my own five

         10  minutes are up.

         11                 Related to that, another

         12  inconsistency. You talk about an increase in kinship

         13  care. We were up at the Schomberg Center, Council

         14  Member Perkins' District, the Committee went on the

         15  road to speak. We heard witness after witness, and I

         16  was particularly struck by three women, they were

         17  grandmothers. They talked about in terms of the age,

         18  and it made sense, from an age point of view that

         19  their daughters, they said this in public so I am

         20  not telling any tales, their daughters were involved

         21  with sort of -- they were of the age in the time of

         22  the eighties and had been involved with the drug

         23  scourge that was rampant, they have grandchildren.

         24  They want the grandchildren. They want to care for

         25  the grandchildren. The daughters, to a greater or
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          2  lesser degree are getting their acts and lives

          3  together, and they are repeatedly refused the

          4  opportunity, which I think would be a kinship

          5  situation, to take, have those kids and raise those

          6  kids. And that was the theme that was repeated to us

          7  all night. Yet in here, in your testimony, you seem

          8  to indicate a greater reliance on kinship care.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHAIRO: That's

         10  correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Let me see if

         12  you can shed any light on that.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I am

         14  not sure that I can.

         15                 I think that the agency is committed

         16  and is moving in that direction with an increase in

         17  kinship care.

         18                 I think that an evaluation is done of

         19  what is in the child's best interest. A child

         20  evaluation specialist would look at the child, would

         21  look at the family and would make a determination of

         22  what is in the child's best interest.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         24                 And then lastly, see, I see a trend,

         25  I hear a trend that emerges from everyone else but
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          2  the agency when they testify, and that doesn't make

          3  one completely right and one completely wrong, but

          4  it really leaves questions out there. And while we

          5  are on that subject, in the same vain, and then I

          6  will come back after everyone else to the general

          7  MMR statistics and one other area.

          8                 I am now worried that there will be a

          9  new trend that will be reported to us, whether or

         10  not you agree with it, and that is that your agency

         11  will adopt the Mayor's position, or at least what

         12  appears to be the Mayor and Jason Turner's position,

         13  that those who find themselves homeless, and for

         14  some reason unable to cope with the pending

         15  imposition of Work Experience Program requirement,

         16  will find themselves not only out on the street,

         17  which is what apparently the position is, but their

         18  children will be taken and placed into foster care.

         19                 Presupposing that homelessness, it is

         20  an automatic, an absolute trigger, equal to abuse

         21  and neglect and giving you the right to take those

         22  kids.

         23                 A) I need to know if you agree with

         24  that and intend to implement? B) I need to know what

         25  legal basis you have for that, because my
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          2  understanding of the law is clear - being homeless

          3  in and of itself, if that is the only reason

          4  government seeks to take a child, the courts have

          5  been pretty clear that in fact that is not allowed.

          6                 So, can you shed some light on that

          7  recently announced policy, driven apparently by

          8  Commissioner Turner and the Mayor, that suggests

          9  that homeless women and children, if they fail to

         10  meet the, they would say I guess requirements, I

         11  would say burdens of the Work Experience Program,

         12  will not only be thrown onto the street, but their

         13  children will be taken under some theory that it is

         14  automatically, I know there is a legal term for it,

         15  automatically abuses and neglect. It is a pretty

         16  scary thought.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: First,

         18  let me say, for ACS, we will assess. Our caseworkers

         19  will go in and do an assessment on a case-by-case

         20  basis, removal is not going to be in an automatic

         21  outcome. If the decision is made to remove it, we

         22  will go into court, and a court order will be

         23  obtained. So it will be supported. It won't be an

         24  arbitrary and capricious decision.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Let me see if
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          2  I understand this. Potentially, although I think

          3  there will be much court action before this is

          4  implemented, if ever implemented, but potentially

          5  this woman and her two children, let's say, which is

          6  a fairly typical example, will fail to meet the

          7  requirements, their word, burden my word, of the

          8  program, are thrown out of the shelter, and then

          9  what will happen?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHAIRO: Well,

         11  a caseworker, ACS will be notified that the family

         12  is at risk being excluded from the shelter and a

         13  caseworker will be assigned to contact the family,

         14  notify the family of their situation regarding the

         15  possibility of having their children removed. It

         16  will be, if they don't find ultimate plans for

         17  housing, that will be suitable for their children,

         18  and ACS will conduct an investigation.  And if this

         19  family still refuses to work and there is no

         20  alternate plan, ACS will go to court to substantiate

         21  a decision.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So, you are

         23  saying then that you will participate in this by I

         24  guess threatening to take away kids of people fail

         25  to comply with the program, or simply having failed
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          2  to comply, and I guess the Mayor proposes throwing

          3  them back out on the street, you will move to take a

          4  kid, you just won't physically take them until --

          5  but what is the basis for even moving to ask a judge

          6  to even allow you to take kids?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Well,

          8  if a case conference is held and the family is asked

          9  what is their plan, where are they going to locate

         10  housing, where are they going to go with the kids,

         11  and they have no plan --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So in your

         13  opinion that is abuse and neglect per se?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: In my

         15  opinion is that abuse and neglect? That is what we

         16  are saying that they are putting children at risk.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right, but the

         18  government through them out on the street under that

         19  scenario and created the homeless condition that you

         20  want to use as a basis for taking their kid.

         21                 Do you see how downward this spiral

         22  is and how offensive, you know, and outrageous it

         23  would appear to many people, that government sets up

         24  the program, people don't -- for one reason or

         25  another are unable to comply, instead of their
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          2  benefit simply being taken, their cash assistance,

          3  which has become somewhat of the norm, they are

          4  thrown out on the street and then you come in as

          5  another agency of government and say because they

          6  are homeless, even though government through you

          7  out, we are going to take your kid. How is this

          8  defensible, in any kind of society?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I just

         10  would like to reiterate, it would be a decision that

         11  would be ultimately that the court would make

         12  regarding the parents' willingness to ensure their

         13  child's safety. ACS would not make this opinion

         14  without --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: But you are

         16  going to court -- either threatening to take their

         17  kids or going to court to try to take the kids. I

         18  mean, that is the issue.

         19                 I understand what you are saying. I

         20  accept that the court will either allow it or not,

         21  in your mind.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: But the notion

         24  that you are part and parcel of this approach, which

         25  is either threatening to take kids or if they are
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          2  thrown on the street, moving to court to allow you

          3  to take the kids is the issue. Not whether or not

          4  the judge ultimately says it is okay or not. I

          5  understand the judge, you know, either would have to

          6  say yes or no. All the parts that you do up to the

          7  judge's doorstep are what I am asking you to defend.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

          9  really do hear and understand your concerns about

         10  this particular issue and this particular policy.

         11  But I think this is, if we looked very specifically

         12  at what ACS' role is, I think you have to understand

         13  in terms of the safety of the child is our primary

         14  concern. And I think that maybe there is another

         15  forum for a detailed discussion of this issue, not

         16  really MMR briefing.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, this is

         18  about the MMR because it is about foster care,

         19  foster care placements and whether you will meet

         20  your goals or not meet your goals, and I will leave

         21  it at that.

         22                 But let me just clarify, are you

         23  saying the agency's legal opinion is that  being

         24  homeless is per se abuse and neglect, because the

         25  courts have been pretty clear on that.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I am

          3  not an attorney and I wouldn't express --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Is this your

          5  counsel?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No,

          7  this is not my counsel. But as a non-attorney I

          8  wouldn't venture a legal opinion.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I can assure

         10  you your attorney should check the current state of

         11  court decisions which have pretty clearly indicated

         12  that if the only reason one takes, wants to take a

         13  child is because the parent is homeless, that is not

         14  in and of itself a basis for, or it is not abuse and

         15  neglect per se.

         16                 My real point, however, is to take

         17  you down this downward spiral is frightening when

         18  you are trying to do so many other good things,

         19  decentralize foster care, increase preventive

         20  services, engage communities in different ways, and

         21  I think this inconsistency of what you present on

         22  behalf of the agency versus what the public is

         23  feeling in the area of how many kids are pulled,

         24  whether domestic violence cases they are

         25  automatically pulled, now whether in homeless
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          2  evictions the threat is there. I mean, this is an

          3  area we shouldn't spend any time on because you

          4  shouldn't be involved in these proceedings. You are

          5  a child welfare agency trying to protect the welfare

          6  of children and families at risk. That is the issue.

          7  The issue isn't whether at the end of the line the

          8  court has to say okay to an outrageous policy, the

          9  issue is you are in the quagmire of this outrageous

         10  policy which effectively says that the citizens of

         11  this city, we, the Administration think it's a good

         12  idea to throw women and kids on the streets and then

         13  take the kids and put them in an overburdened foster

         14  care system.

         15                 Anyway, it is interesting. And let me

         16  move to my colleagues who have questions closest to

         17  the outline. This has just been on my mind and I

         18  think it is relevant to the MMR.

         19                 We have been joined by Council Member

         20  Martin Malave-Dilan and we have three members who

         21  have questions and, although I have abused the five

         22  minutes probably by at least double, I will still

         23  seek to keep my learned colleagues close to the

         24  time, even though that is an unenviable position for

         25  a chair to be in.
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          2                 Council Member Eldridge, followed by

          3  Council Members Watkins and Perkins.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

          5  In the discussion of children being placed in foster

          6  care homes where there is domestic violence

          7  incidents, can you tell us the number of children

          8  who have been placed in foster care because of

          9  failure to protect?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No, I

         11  cannot. Of children who are placed because of

         12  domestic violence situations?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Or who

         14  because the parent was charged with failure to

         15  protect, which is what I understand the charge to

         16  be, the reason to be given when a child is removed

         17  where there is a domestic violence report?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: The

         19  numbers of our allegations or kinds of allegations

         20  based on abuse and neglect would not be coded that

         21  specifically.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I think we

         23  had a hearing on this and I think it would be very

         24  helpful if that breakdown was given to us, or if you

         25  were to keep a breakdown like that, since it is as
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          2  the chair has said, the impression of many of the

          3  advocacy groups and of some women who are involved

          4  in domestic violence programs, that when they report

          5  an incident and the police arrive and there is a

          6  child there, it is automatically reported to the

          7  child abuse hot line and then visited by the

          8  response team or somebody from ACD and so when

          9  children are removed. And so I think the only way we

         10  can see what is happening is if you do keep that

         11  separate category.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: The

         13  allegations we receive are reported to the state,

         14  and the state keeps the record of the allegations

         15  and the reason code, and this is an enormous number

         16  of reasons that children come in. So you would ask

         17  specifically that we break down the reasons for

         18  placement based on kind of is this a domestic

         19  violence situation --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What we are

         21  particularly interested in is not where there is

         22  domestic violence necessary where there is a

         23  domestic violence case and it has been reported

         24  where a woman has called the police, a battered

         25  victim has called the police, the police have
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          2  responded to a domestic violence complaint, they

          3  fill out a form when there is a child present at

          4  that police visit. When there is a child present at

          5  that police visit, the Police Department notifies

          6  the State hot line, that triggers --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: The

          8  State hot line, as I said, does not record the

          9  domestic violence that would lead to placement. It

         10  simply doesn't record that data.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But your

         12  people then visit the home.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: An ACS

         15  worker then visits the home and I assume that is

         16  part of your --

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:

         18  Exactly. What we have is, and you are right on

         19  target, is the IRT data, which would reflect that

         20  2,546 of the allegations we received in 1998 were

         21  related to domestic violence.

         22                 Of 56,149 request reports that ACS

         23  received, 2,546 had domestic violence.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But that is

         25  not actually telling us still whether that removal
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          2  of those 2,546 was triggered by the original call

          3  for help by the Police Department.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:

          5  Whether or not it was the Police Department that

          6  identified the domestic violence, and it was a

          7  result from that call from the PD, or if it was a

          8  worker that had a call that was from a neighbor

          9  regarding a domestic --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What we are

         11  saying is this is a very important thing for women

         12  who call the police for protection and a visit, that

         13  more and more women are hesitating to do that

         14  because it triggers the other thing. So it is

         15  something that has to be --

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Well,

         17  it may be something we can discuss and work out with

         18  the PD in terms of tracking that we could share with

         19  them. They are sharing with me the allegations from

         20  the state with all the codes and it doesn't reflect

         21  it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Of the 2,546

         23  cases, are those children who were removed from the

         24  home and placed in foster care?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: How many

          3  were --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Nine

          5  percent of those.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Nine

          7  percent. And is that all under the category of

          8  failure to protect?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: It

         10  would be. And some were placed on a voluntary basis,

         11  and some were court ordered. I don't have that

         12  breakdown from the nine percent, 9.4. And I don't

         13  have that number of which were voluntary and which

         14  were court ordered.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Well, what

         16  do we do, well, we will have to figure that out, how

         17  we get the Police Department and ACS to work

         18  together, because it is an important perception on

         19  the part of women, and therefore interferes with the

         20  proper protection that we can offer them.

         21                 I mean, the MMR shows that the rental

         22  supplements have decreased, and evidently the reason

         23  given is that you have a lack of staff?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Well,

         25  actually housing subsidies is what you are
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          2  referencing.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: And

          5  right now we -- the housing subsidies are limited to

          6  $300 a month, that is a very small amount, and they

          7  have all regardless to family size or the market

          8  rate. And so currently we have started an initiative

          9  on streamlining our process of utilizing housing

         10  subsidies and we have started working with Child

         11  Welfare League of America, CWLA, on looking at this

         12  and making a more effective use of our housing

         13  subsidies. It is a brand new project.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Are these

         15  housing subsidies directed to parents who are trying

         16  to get children out of foster care or to prevent

         17  them from going into foster care?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: It

         19  could be either.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And do you

         21  have any figures as to the number of children in

         22  foster care who are not released because of the --

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Lack

         24  of housing subsidy?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Lack of
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          2  housing to your standards, which might imply a lack

          3  of housing subsidy.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:

          5  Delayed discharges because of lack of housing?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Yes.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No, we

          8  don't.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Can you

         10  possibly arrive at those figures?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Yes,

         12  we can. I am told we can.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Can you

         14  provide those to us?

         15                 Can you just give me the average

         16  length of time that a child is in foster care?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: It

         18  varies tremendously. The average length of time,

         19  it's about two years, two months.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And then the

         21  average length of time before a kinship adoption?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:

         23  (Speaking to her staff) did we break it out by

         24  kinship adoption?

         25                 I don't think so. That is why we have
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          2  the research out.

          3                 It is a median of six years for all

          4  adoptions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: We think

          6  that the MMR says the average length is four years

          7  for foster care --

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: That

          9  is average, right? Yes. For adoptions --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: No, for

         11  foster care.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Up

         13  until the past fiscal year kinship children tend to

         14  languish without adoptions. The past year there was

         15  a real push for kinship adoptions, and they kind of

         16  held down the average length. The kinship children

         17  tended to be in care longer without having an

         18  adoption outcome.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Are the

         20  kinship adoptions usually the children in kinship

         21  foster care?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Are

         23  the kinship adoptions? Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And I just

         25  have one or two questions on day care.
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          2                 How do you divide the number of

          3  available vouchers between ACD and OES? Is there a

          4  formula that is used?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

          6  really would be happy to answer you.

          7                 I had hoped that all of the day care

          8  questions were addressed on Monday, I am not as

          9  familiar with the day care side of the agency.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: All right. Why

         11  don't we take the two questions and we will provide

         12  them to you before we end today, and if you get us

         13  an answer --

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: And we

         15  will.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, I would

         17  like to know if there is a formula. If there are

         18  over 30,000 children on ACD waiting lists, there are

         19  not, I don't believe, 30,000 women or primary

         20  caregivers in HRA --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I had

         22  hoped Maria Vandor would be here today, but she is

         23  not. So, I don't feel comfortable answering those

         24  questions, I am sorry.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: What we will
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          2  do is, Council Member Eldridge will give the

          3  questions to our Counsel to the Committee, before we

          4  are done we will read a version of them into the

          5  record and provide them to you. We will want an

          6  answer.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Let me just

          8  give you this other, and then the other questions I

          9  would like is the length of time on a waiting list

         10  to get a slot, and the number of children who never

         11  get the placements because they are on the waiting

         12  list, okay?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: We

         14  will take those questions and respond to you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: They will all

         17  come from the Counsel, and he can distribute to all

         18  of you.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Council

         21  Member Watkins.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.

         24                 Commissioner, with the child support

         25  initiative, there are indications about the Office
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          2  of Child Support Enforcement collecting a record

          3  number of dollars in increased support payments, and

          4  a change in the state law which requires a parent

          5  who has not been making support payments to be

          6  forced into work programs.

          7                 But one thing that you don't address

          8  is the role of the mother and any penalties if the

          9  mother refuses to disclose the father of the child.

         10                 I notice there is a goal to increase

         11  in-hospital establishment of paternity, but if the

         12  mother does not or will not indicate the possible or

         13  definite father of this child, is there any action

         14  taken?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         16  believe that would be a question for HRA actually. I

         17  think that would be an HRA question. Certainly not

         18  child welfare.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Well, I find

         20  it difficult to understand if part of your goals

         21  have to do with establishing paternity?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: That's

         23  correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: And part of

         25  establishing the paternity, the first stop would be
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          2  ask the mother. So, how do you get involved in one

          3  end and not in the other? It does not appear to make

          4  good sense, if you do not even collaborate with HRA

          5  on the policies regarding this?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: To my

          7  knowledge we do not collaborate. I am sure OCSE does

          8  have conversations with HRA regarding the

          9  establishment of paternity.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Well, it

         11  would seem to at least this particular Council

         12  member that there needs to be much better

         13  communication then.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: What

         15  we are required to do is to notify HRA, which is our

         16  TANF agency, of the mother's failure to cooperate in

         17  providing us with a name of the father. But that

         18  would be our major responsibility in this.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I would say

         20  that it is important for the people of the City of

         21  New York that the agencies collaborate more closely.

         22  If you give information, then you ought to have some

         23  idea of what is the outcome of the information that

         24  you give to an agency which is closely linked with

         25  yours. And I would like to go on record to say that
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          2  it is extremely important and highly recommended

          3  that your two agencies have a much closer working

          4  relationship in this area because while you are

          5  going through some expensive and intensive attempts

          6  to establish parenthood, one of the more or less

          7  expensive and quicker means of establishing that

          8  parenthood might be if you were able to explain who

          9  the mother, the possible outcomes of nondisclosure.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         11  believe that at the time of a child's birth, it is

         12  in fact explained to them. There is training that

         13  has been done to let them know about the

         14  ramifications of not sharing that information.

         15                 In fact, a new paternity and

         16  community outreach unit has been established to

         17  provide training and education to hospital staff,

         18  parents and community organizations to encourage a

         19  voluntary acknowledgment of paternity at a child's

         20  birth.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: But what

         22  happens if it is not volunteer? Is that explained to

         23  the mother?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         25  would assume at the time they are making, or

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            87

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  providing information about what ramifications could

          3  possibly ensue if they fail to acknowledge

          4  paternity, that would be explained.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Well, then

          6  Commissioner, my request and recommendation is that

          7  that same briefing be given to ACS. And that is

          8  something listed here that I would request that we

          9  have ACS report back to this Committee on. Because

         10  if everybody knows except you, you are less out of

         11  the loop, something is lacking that should not be

         12  lacking. But you definitely ought to know what the

         13  ramifications are if mother is unwilling to disclose

         14  the father of this child.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         16  Council Member.

         17                 Council Member Perkins is next.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just want

         19  to follow up a little bit, or clarification at

         20  least, on what my colleague has been pursuing with

         21  respect to the child support.

         22                 The Office of Child Support

         23  Enforcement is the City or the State?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: There

         25  is the City Office of Child Support Enforcement.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: And it

          4  is discreet to ACS.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Oh, okay.

          6  Very good.

          7                 Now, in that regard, the Paternity

          8  and Community Outreach Unit, that is a part of ACS

          9  as well?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:

         11  Correct. OSCE.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And OCSE

         13  expects paternity to be established at birth, in 65

         14  percent of city births to unmarried mothers by the

         15  end of Fiscal Year 2000?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: That

         17  is correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Sixty-five

         19  percent of unmarried women will be expected to

         20  establish some sort of paternity as a result of this

         21  effort.

         22                 Now, who are these women? Are these

         23  women on public assistance? Any unmarried woman that

         24  comes into a public hospital or a private hospital

         25  will undergo this sort of --
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: It

          3  would be any unmarried woman who comes in, we would

          4  expect that they establish paternity.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: On what basis

          6  would you expect that they would establish

          7  paternity?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: On

          9  what basis? I am sorry, I don't understand.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, if an

         11  unmarried woman goes in and has a baby and why did

         12  --

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: We

         14  would expect --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Why does it

         16  matter to you, so-to-speak?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Why

         18  does it matter?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: We

         21  would expect that they would for questions of birth

         22  records that they would indicate who the father of

         23  the child was on the birth record.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What are you

         25  trying to get at, for instance, by doing this?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: We are

          3  trying to identify the father of children who are

          4  born out of wedlock.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: For any

          6  mother.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: For

          8  any mother.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: For any

         10  mother?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: That's

         12  correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. So that

         14  doesn't matter whether the mother is on public

         15  assistance or whether she is not on public

         16  assistance?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: That's

         18  correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what

         20  percentage of mothers are you getting records on

         21  now? You hope to get the 65 percent, where are we at

         22  now in terms of this type of information?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         24  really don't know where we are. We have no data at

         25  this point on where we are with that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what

          3  hospitals are we at now?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Every

          5  hospital.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Every

          7  hospital in the city?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Every

          9  hospital participating, which is --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So you know

         11  the hospitals that are participating?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: We can

         13  certainly identify --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It is very

         15  important, because I want to know that these

         16  hospitals are all over, that there are not certain

         17  hospitals where this is happening and there other

         18  hospitals where it is not happening. So, I would

         19  like to get that.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: We

         21  will --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Of the list

         23  of our hospitals and the --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: That

         25  is another question that will be responded to.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The Chairman

          3  earlier alluded to a hearing we had in my district

          4  in which the cry of outrage continues to be heard,

          5  and that essentially is that black children are

          6  being snatched from their parents without

          7  justification. Their grandparents are being denied

          8  an opportunity to substitute when necessary and it

          9  is primarily because these are black children.

         10                 Obviously you have indicated that

         11  that is not quite a concern of yours in terms of

         12  that perception or that outcry, but it is a great

         13  concern of mine and a lot of us. I am wondering,

         14  what role are you playing to dispel that concern?

         15  Because it is not something that is coming from some

         16  sort of irresponsible radical fringe, and it is not

         17  something that is coming from some opportunistic

         18  political agenda or character. These are people,

         19  some who represent professional organizations, some

         20  who represent more grassroots organizations, that

         21  are releasing reports as a matter of fact to this

         22  effect.

         23                 So, do you feel any kind of

         24  responsibility as the managers of this agency to

         25  address that concern and to dispel that belief?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

          3  think as managers of ACS, I think it would be a

          4  grave concern that this is the perception in the

          5  community.

          6                 I think that ACS has been very

          7  proactive in organizing its agenda for Children for

          8  Tomorrow Act, which does a lot of community work. I

          9  think our ombudsman unit is always ready and able to

         10  address specific concerns and to do evaluations of

         11  specific concerns that may be raised.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you have a

         13  record of having done that with respect to what I am

         14  talking about?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: In a

         16  very global sense. I think we have a record as

         17  individual complaints come in.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What about in

         19  terms of just this very specific plan. Not just

         20  responding to complaints globally, but to complaints

         21  of racism in the manner in which the agency is

         22  operating, have you dealt with that at all?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Not to

         24  my knowledge.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But you are
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          2  familiar with that cry, you are familiar with that

          3  concern?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I have

          5  heard Child Welfare Watch.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          7                 So, you respect that as a

          8  professional group of advocates.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         10  respect that as a concern.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. You

         12  don't think they are professionals?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You do think

         15  they are professionals?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. And

         18  professional courtesy protocol respect would suggest

         19  that you would give some credence to their concerns

         20  and address them in some proactive direct way, not

         21  in a global way, I would think. Just as a manager,

         22  one professional to another.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I feel

         24  our agency does address those kinds of concerns.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. What I
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          2  would like is some data representing how you have

          3  done that, as a managerial, you know, report.

          4  Because it could be a perception that some people

          5  have, but that when a group of professionals that

          6  have been working in this area like you for many,

          7  many years, whose credibility, professional

          8  credibility is on the line with these type of

          9  allegations or concerns raises that, I think it sort

         10  of puts on your responsibility to tackle it in a

         11  quantifiable way.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I just

         13  wanted to make sure, we can assemble data that will

         14  start addressing the concern you are raising.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         16                 Let me ask you about one or two other

         17  quick things, Mr. Chairman, if I may?

         18                 ACS has shown little improvement in

         19  responding to reports within a 24-hour state

         20  mandatory time frame.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Explain that.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Yes, I

         24  will be happy to.

         25                 What happened is we have just really
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          2  arrived at our full compliment of workers, and over

          3  the past year we reassigned some workers and we have

          4  an extensive training protocol for workers before

          5  they are ready to go to the field. And we expect

          6  that with this intensive training that they

          7  received, and the fact that we are fully at

          8  headcount and above that we will be achieving the

          9  requirement.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When do you

         11  think you will be achieving it?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: During

         13  this fiscal year.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: During this

         15  fiscal year which ends in June?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Right.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Right. So, we

         18  will be looking forward to that.

         19                 One other thing. Protective workers

         20  to be developed in conjunction with the New York

         21  City Police Department and the DA's Office by April

         22  '97 and implemented by July '97. Where are we at

         23  with respect to that?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERKINS: Fully

         25  operational. You are talking about the instant
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          2  response teams?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER PERKINS: We are

          5  fully operational with the IRTs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          7                 Now, with regard to child services

          8  and Headstart, have you met your targets for

          9  enrollment of children in Headstart and Day Care

         10  Programs, despite the increasing need for such

         11  programs?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: May I

         13  ask, Council member, the same thing I did with

         14  Council Member Eldridge: Could you put questions to

         15  us regarding the enrollment for Headstart Day Care?

         16  I believe we are at full enrollment, but could you

         17  put those in your roster of questions because I am

         18  not as familiar.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is full

         20  enrollment important to you?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Is

         22  what?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Is full

         24  enrollment important to you?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Is
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          2  full enrollment important? Surely.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, I just

          4  wanted to understand it. Because it would seem to me

          5  that that day care would be something that you would

          6  sort of like let us know.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: We

          8  will.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Today in this

         10  kind of setting.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I had

         12  hoped those questions were addressed on Monday when

         13  the day care hearing was held.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: It doesn't

         15  hurt to repeat.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I am

         17  not as familiar to the responses to those questions.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, so we

         19  will do that. And I want to thank you for it, and,

         20  again, hope that you don't take these allegations of

         21  racism lightly, because, frankly, the silence with

         22  respect to them encourages it, as opposed to dispels

         23  it. And I think that the concern that the chairman

         24  raised about the Mayor's threat to take children

         25  away from their parents who are homeless, I would
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          2  hope that your response, though, you know, somewhat

          3  restrained because of who you work for, would be

          4  more supportive of the victim, in this case the

          5  parents, the women whose children are going to be

          6  taken.

          7                 I don't want to put you in a position

          8  where you compromise yourself with respect to your

          9  administration, but I think there should be some

         10  conversation between you and the Administration as

         11  to how this type of policy may not be the best thing

         12  for the children and may not be the best message to

         13  be sending out to the community at large, especially

         14  when so many women are the ones that are going to be

         15  the victims of it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         17  Council Member.

         18                 I have a couple of other things to

         19  finish the MMR report.

         20                 One of the comments I made at the

         21  beginning is that these hearings are somewhat

         22  limited in value because, not because the staff

         23  doesn't work hard to prepare and they do, and we

         24  have very dedicated staff, I know you have your

         25  staff prepare your information as well, but the
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          2  problem is the document itself. The Council

          3  repeatedly requests that more detailed indicators be

          4  put into the MMR in order to make it a more

          5  meaningful document.

          6                 Let me just ask you a couple. The

          7  Council has requested that protected services

          8  caseworkers, formerly referred to as child

          9  protective specialists, or now referred to as child

         10  protective specialists, that their caseload might be

         11  disaggregated by borough. Is that in the MMR?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No,

         13  there is not a disaggregation by borough.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The Council

         15  has asked for indicators like the number of children

         16  killed by care-givers who were previously known to

         17  ACS to be outlined; is that in the MMR?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The Council

         20  has asked that repeated abuse and neglect complaints

         21  about the same children or the same families be

         22  somehow be highlighted in the MMR; has that been

         23  done?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: May I

         25  say we are just beginning to collect that data now.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Just

          4  starting now. It is not that easy to get data.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Whether it

          6  goes in or not, it is not yet?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Yes,

          8  it wasn't even available yet.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         10  Reentries into the foster care system by the same

         11  child?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Same

         13  thing. We are just starting to collect those data

         14  now.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So, those are

         16  not yet in, but you are not suggesting that you now

         17  know they will be in the MMR. You may get the data

         18  --

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: What I

         20  am suggesting is those data will be available by the

         21  end of this fiscal year.

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER CHARVAT: Those

         23  data will be available, and we are currently working

         24  with the CCRS data in order to identify children who

         25  re-enter, and they are also one of our communicators
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          2  to actually identify children, so we can report

          3  those to you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So those two

          5  might be in future MMRs?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Yes.

          7  It is a first.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I just want

          9  the record to be clear, they might be in future

         10  MMRs.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: It is definite

         13  that you will be gathering the data.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:

         15  Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And it may be

         17  in future MMRs.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:

         19  Correct. It is a question I guess of negotiating

         20  with operations.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

         22  Children placed in foster care in their own

         23  communities, since we are moving towards this

         24  system.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: We are
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          2  also starting to collect those data and will be

          3  again. We hope actually it will -- it is a more

          4  difficult data collection.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

          6                 Is it in the 1999 MMR?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Children in

          9  foster care, you know, relative to their appropriate

         10  grade levels, is that in the '99 MMR?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The children

         13  in foster care who graduate from high school, these

         14  are suggestions the Council has made to make the

         15  document more meaningful.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         17  understand.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Children in

         19  foster care go on to higher education, skilled

         20  employment, so there is a whole educational

         21  component?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Right.

         23  It is sort of the independent living outcomes you

         24  would be looking for.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And none of
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          2  that is in the current MMR?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You are

          5  beginning to do more data, that is a definite.

          6  Whether they end up in the MMR is at best maybe at

          7  this point?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

          9  guess it is a question of a negotiation as we move

         10  ahead with the next report.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Again,

         12  that was past requests that have not yet been

         13  included. We also think currently that the child

         14  protective specialist caseload by borough remain

         15  important as an indicator. The number of children in

         16  foster care receiving services, for example, use the

         17  Bronx as a model within their community would be a

         18  good indicator of success.

         19                 There are a number of suggestions the

         20  Council has that are routinely not included in the

         21  MMR, and I think that is unfortunate and contributes

         22  to what makes the overall value of the hearing

         23  somewhat limited.

         24                 Now, having said that, let me return

         25  to just one of the issues that was brought up and
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          2  then we will finish this section.

          3                 I just want you to understand that

          4  there were three areas here where people have raised

          5  serious concerns.

          6                 One, and I don't believe this is the

          7  front-line caseworkers' fault, because if we don't

          8  know their background, their training, support,

          9  their caseload, then it is foolish to try to suggest

         10  it is the front-line caseworker's fault, if the

         11  pressure comes from the top, which I believe it

         12  does.

         13                 But, not withstanding that, the

         14  allegations are that the pressure is to pull kids

         15  sooner rather than later. The indication that in

         16  cases of domestic violence, when ACS is then brought

         17  to the scene, that the existence of domestic

         18  violence is one of your bases for pulling children,

         19  whether or not that is in the best interest of the

         20  child, even though I know you are going to tell me

         21  eventually a court has to agree, although you have

         22  been taken to court -- I wasn't asking before, I

         23  really was telling you, the court was pretty clear

         24  that you routinely expand the number of kids you

         25  take under the emergency, under this claim of
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          2  emergency and the courts have kind of said you

          3  really shouldn't do that.

          4                 And third is this whole question of

          5  homeless women and children, which is who the Mayor

          6  wants to throw on the street, not simply take away

          7  their cash benefit, which is as I say somewhat

          8  understandable, you know, from the general public

          9  point of view, I am not so sure the general public

         10  understands of failing to comply with a program

         11  created by government, you don't just lose your

         12  benefit, you know, if you are not willing to work

         13  you lose some cash, which people I think understand,

         14  but you get thrown back out on the street and a

         15  second agency, your agency, attempts to take your

         16  children, because the person is homeless, the

         17  homelessness being created by the government. They

         18  are throwing them out on the street by setting up

         19  the barrier.

         20                 Did you propose this? Did your agency

         21  propose this plan as a way to expand foster care

         22  placement?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:

         24  Absolutely, unequivocally, no.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Did you
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          2  oppose it?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

          4  really wasn't privy to the policy decision-making.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

          6                 Well, I think we are going to ask

          7  these questions of the HRA Commissioner, and I want

          8  you to understand that I have read a lot of accounts

          9  of this proposal, and for a child welfare agency to

         10  suggest, or be complacent in a policy that suggests

         11  homelessness is in and of itself a basis to take

         12  children, I think you are going to find some legal

         13  problems with that.

         14                 Beyond that, to suggest that it is a

         15  good idea to throw women and children back into the

         16  street and then have a second agency come and take

         17  the kids and put them in foster care, raises some

         18  additional concerns about the mean-spiritedness of

         19  the administration, when you go, if ultimately to

         20  the public and say do you think it is a good thing

         21  that people give back to society the benefit they

         22  receive, and the vast majority will say yes. Ask

         23  them a question as to whether if a person fails to

         24  comply with the rigorous requirements of a program,

         25  they should lose some of their benefit, their cash,
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          2  they still will probably say yes. But then after the

          3  next question, should mothers and children be thrown

          4  on the street and their kids taken and put into an

          5  already overburdened foster care system, I don't

          6  think you are going to have a lot of people say yes.

          7  And that adds to the sort of another layer on top of

          8  the two or three areas concerned about pressure to

          9  pull kids to begin with, pulling in domestic

         10  violence situations and now in a third area. And I

         11  think that gets in the way of a lot of work you are

         12  doing.

         13                 The last area, preventive services.

         14  You said in your testimony preventive services had

         15  been expanded. Is it more correct, and I want to be

         16  clear here, and remind you, you know, these hearings

         17  are official proceedings and so on, isn't it more

         18  correct to say that you have made a policy

         19  determination to reimburse at a lower rate per

         20  preventive service case; in other words, required

         21  agencies to handle more children, saying you have X

         22  amount of dollars, you used to do -- let's do a

         23  hypothetical. For X amount you used to do 100

         24  preventive interventions, the same X now you have to

         25  do 120 because we are going to pay you less for
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          2  intervention; isn't that essentially it? It is not

          3  reflected in your testimony, but is that it?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: We

          5  have done a model budget to try to maximize the

          6  numbers of slots that we can purchase for preventive

          7  services.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Does that mean

          9  the answer to your question is yes, that you are

         10  paying less per intervention?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: I

         12  can't really, because it depends on the

         13  intervention, nature of intervention and so forth.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Of all of the

         15  documents I read, it seemed to indicate that you

         16  will pay preventive service providers less per

         17  intervention per preventive action, and that is how

         18  you are going to get them, or that is how you intend

         19  to get them to handle more cases, as opposed to

         20  leaving this impression that you have expanded the

         21  resources and the commitment to preventive services,

         22  and I think that is the problem.

         23                 Agencies simply cannot do the same

         24  kind of meaningful intervention for that little

         25  amount of money. And by the way, this isn't just
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          2  someone who says throw more money at the problem,

          3  this Committee, this is extremely cost effective on

          4  average for $3,600, whatever it is, the formula

          5  which always escapes me, $3,000 to $4,000 for

          6  intervention, you save $30,000 to $40,000 in foster

          7  care costs if you keep your kids and the family

          8  together. So how do you square that? The claim that

          9  you are doing more preventive, but the only way you

         10  seem to be doing it is by forcing, cutting the

         11  amount of reimbursement that you are offering.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Well,

         13  the reimbursement is approximately, and I may be off

         14  somewhat, it is approximately $6,100 for

         15  intervention for preventive services, the slots that

         16  we are purchasing.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. And the

         18  year before, was it $7,500? Was it $8,000? Is foster

         19  care still $30,000 to $40,000? So my number is --

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: The

         21  number kind of fluctuated, the agencies were getting

         22  more dollars and some agencies were getting lower.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We shouldn't

         24  finish on a negative note. Just try to answer the

         25  question directly.
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          2                 Is it or is it not true, compared to

          3  last year or the year before that the plan is to

          4  reduce the amount of money paid for intervention,

          5  generally speaking across the board, whether by

          6  average or by specific type of intervention. I think

          7  the answer is yes.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: There

          9  will be agencies who will be receiving fewer

         10  dollars.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And I think

         12  that is the reason you can come here and testify

         13  that you have expanded preventive service reach, but

         14  I think it is counter-productive, that's the point.

         15  The right way to expand preventive service reach,

         16  meaning more people, is to increase the numbers of

         17  agencies doing it, the numbers of cases they can

         18  handle, and by paying a rate that allows them to

         19  perform the valuable function that they perform.

         20                 All right.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO:

         22  Through this RFP we have increased the overall

         23  numbers of the losts and the overall numbers of

         24  dollars. --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No, no,
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          2  Commissioner, for someone who is good at statistics

          3  and I hate statistics, it isn't whether you have

          4  increased the number of dollars you are spending or

          5  even the number of slots; it is the per slot number

          6  that you have driven down that is I think at the

          7  root of the problem because you threaten the

          8  efficacy, the value of the preventive service when

          9  you do that.

         10                 If I had $1,000 and wanted you to do

         11  100 cases, that's fine. If I put up $1,200 but I

         12  want you to do, you know, instead of $1,200 cases,

         13  $1,400, I can say I spent more money on it and I can

         14  say I am going to reach more people, but the per

         15  case rate goes down and it threatens the quality of

         16  the service.

         17                 I think that is dangerous. That is

         18  all I am trying to suggest to you, for another day

         19  as we follow this up. And I think that is what the

         20  record will reflect, that you may have increased the

         21  money in the aggregate. You certainly have increased

         22  the number of cases in the aggregate, but you have

         23  only accomplished it by paying or offering to pay

         24  preventive service providers less for intervention,

         25  and that threatens the quality and efficacy of the
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          2  program. And that is not good, because if they fail,

          3  you get more kids to place in foster care and we all

          4  pay a whole lot more. That was the point.

          5                 In any event, I would like you to

          6  convey to the Commissioner the stress of which this

          7  Committee, I think most, if not all the members'

          8  view your participation in, if not the proposing of

          9  and certainly that is one extreme, nor the

         10  opposition to, but simply your participation in this

         11  latest scheme by the HRA Commissioner to throw women

         12  and children onto the streets of our City and to

         13  place children in foster care. I think that is among

         14  a series of distressing events, the most distressing

         15  and it gets in the way of some of the otherwise

         16  important work that you try to do. Sort of point

         17  one.

         18                 And point two, you should convey to

         19  the Commissioner the concern that I know he has, you

         20  have, but we share that unfortunately children

         21  continue to suffer and die at the hands of abuse and

         22  neglect and that frozen in time a slightly greater

         23  number since all of these changes have occurred at

         24  the agency, and this means that you shouldn't have

         25  to be caught up in extraneous battles, you know, to
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          2  take away from your core mission at best.

          3                 At worst, it means we are not doing

          4  enough things right yet, but at best. I mean, you

          5  shouldn't be tied up in these other battles. So, if

          6  you would convey that, I would appreciate it.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, this

          9  portion of the hearing is adjourned.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CUCCHIARO: Thank

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The next

         13  agency is the Department of Homeless Services.

         14                 Commissioner, welcome. As you know,

         15  everyone who appears before the Committee is first

         16  addressed by Counsel, this is an MMR hearing, and

         17  not because of any reflection on the various

         18  agencies but because the MMR is limited in value, I

         19  think, because of a lack of sufficient number of

         20  indicators, the hearings are somewhat limited in

         21  potential, as opposed to covering specific topics in

         22  our normal monthly hearings.

         23                 So, with that in mind, I will please

         24  draw your attention to Counsel to the Committee.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise
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          2  your right hand.

          3                 Do you swear or affirm that the

          4  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

          5  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          6                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I do.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

          8  your name and affiliation for the record.

          9                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Martin

         10  Oesterreich. Commissioner of the New York City

         11  Department of Homeless Services.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You may begin.

         13                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Thank you.

         14  I believe copies of my prepared testimony have been

         15  distributed to all members and are available.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes, that is

         17  correct.

         18                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Thank you.

         19                 Good afternoon. I am Martin

         20  Oesterreich, the Commissioner of the New York City

         21  Department of Homeless Services. I appreciate this

         22  opportunity to appear before you today to discuss

         23  the Fiscal Year 1999 Mayor's Management Report, for

         24  the Department of Homeless Services.

         25                 In Fiscal 1999, the Department, under
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          2  the leadership of Mayor Giuliani, continued its

          3  commitment to operate a comprehensive continuum of

          4  care system, which provides necessary emergency

          5  shelter and supportive services for homeless single

          6  adults and families.

          7                 DHS continues transformation from its

          8  role as a direct service provider to one that

          9  primarily provides direction and oversight to New

         10  York City's Homeless System.

         11                 In Fiscal Year '99, the agency's

         12  accomplishments were recognized by the City Council

         13  in the passage of Local Law 19, which was signed by

         14  the Mayor on May 18th and established DHS as a

         15  permanent independent Mayoral agency.

         16                 In compliance with Local Law 19, in

         17  July the Department instituted a new process to

         18  ensure that no families with children remain in the

         19  EAU overnight, families who were not able to

         20  complete their shelter application by 10:00 p.m., or

         21  who are applying at the EAU between the hours of

         22  10:00 p.m. and 4:00 are now provided with overnight

         23  accommodations. They are returned to the EAU to

         24  complete the application process the next morning.

         25                 Since July 1, DHS has provided 11,946
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          2  families with overnight accommodations.

          3                 However, capacity to accommodate

          4  families receiving overnight placements had to be

          5  created, because DHS allocated existing shelter

          6  space to such families, capacity for transitional

          7  and conditional placement have to be identified. New

          8  facilities were opened, others were reopened, and

          9  units were added at existing facilities.

         10                 Contracts had to be amended to

         11  provide food, transportation, security, medical

         12  screening and other services.

         13                 The EAU had to be redesigned,

         14  staffing enhanced in order to fulfill these new

         15  functions.

         16                 Nearly every division of DHS was

         17  involved in this effort. I am proud that this new

         18  procedure was implemented ahead of schedule and was

         19  achieved during the summer months, which are

         20  traditionally the period of peak demands by families

         21  for shelter.

         22                 In addition, I am pleased that the

         23  agency continues to meet its reporting obligations.

         24  This past summer a unit was created under the

         25  purview of the Facility and Maintenance Division to
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          2  review and report on our response to inspections and

          3  efficiencies that are identified at single adult

          4  shelters by any state, city or other government

          5  agency as defined in Local Law 19. The first report

          6  was submitted to the Council on November 5, 1999.

          7                 As the Agency's mission advances and

          8  as new policies and practices are implemented, we

          9  not only ask more of our non-profit providers, but

         10  we also place much greater demands on ourselves.

         11                 As the Department moves away from

         12  directly operating the shelter facilities, we must

         13  ensure that our staff has the tools and skills they

         14  need to provide direction and oversight to our

         15  providers.

         16                 To help our staff enhance and expand

         17  the skills of many different levels, DHS has

         18  initiated several staff training programs and health

         19  conferences for staff developments.

         20                 One such training program and major

         21  undertaking was the Management Training Institute, a

         22  16-session in-service professional development

         23  program designed with considerable input from a

         24  cross section of DHS staff.

         25                 The goal was to promote communication
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          2  across agency lines, explore best practices for

          3  achieving results and give managers an opportunity

          4  to examine and share with each other what works in

          5  managing not only themselves but also others within

          6  the unique environment of DHS.

          7                 Between November 1997 and October

          8  1999, the five 16-week sessions were conducted and

          9  118 managers were trained. In addition, the Program

         10  Analyst Training Institute was a five-day course

         11  offered to some of DHS' 31 new program analysts.

         12  PATI was specifically designed to help program

         13  analysts develop the knowledge, skills and

         14  networking connections they will need to succeed in

         15  their newly redefined positions. The training

         16  program included an overview of the agency and its

         17  environment, the increasingly important contracting

         18  process, as well as techniques for monitoring and

         19  evaluating provider performance, providing technical

         20  assistance, managing budgets and conducting site

         21  visits.

         22                 During the months of May and June of

         23  this year, we also conducted a workshop with 60 DHS

         24  staff entitled How Can We Help You? A workshop for

         25  customer service professionals. The workshop
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          2  included discussions concerning who our customers

          3  are, what they need, New York City standards for

          4  customer service, and customer service performance

          5  evaluations.

          6                 A very important training opportunity

          7  was the October 25th conference, New York Shelter

          8  and Housing Providers, was sponsored by the

          9  Department of Homeless Services and the State Office

         10  of Temporary and Disability Assistance.

         11                 More than 300 shelter administrators,

         12  directors and supervisors were invited to explore

         13  common concerns, identify ways to create a positive

         14  working requirement for shelter, staff and clients,

         15  and to examine recent trends and preferred practices

         16  and service delivery and program administration.

         17                 Just yesterday DHS hosted its second

         18  annual outreach conference entitled Outreach in the

         19  Next Millennium. Over 200 outreach workers, shelter

         20  operators and officials from other cities, such as

         21  Baltimore and Philadelphia joined our staff for the

         22  day-long conference to discuss challenges and new

         23  approaches to working with service-resistant

         24  individuals living on the streets.

         25                 Now, let me provide you with some
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          2  highlights of the Department's operations and

          3  accomplishments for Fiscal Year 1999. Last year DHS

          4  provided emergency and transitional housing for

          5  approximately 24,000 single adults, with an average

          6  nightly census of 6,800 individuals.

          7                 Last year our shelter system, family

          8  shelter system, sheltered an average of 4,800

          9  families, which includes over 8,000 children and

         10  over 6,000 adults.

         11                 Significantly, over 3,500 families

         12  and over 1,800 single adults were placed into

         13  permanent housing with a greater chance to remain

         14  there as a result of program implementation within

         15  the shelters, and therefore I avoid returning to the

         16  shelter system.

         17                 Through privatization, the Department

         18  has enlisted non-profit organizations as partners in

         19  order to draw on their techniques for improvements

         20  and programs, as well as service delivery.

         21                 In Fiscal 1999, DHS privatized two

         22  additional shelters and is moving ahead with plans

         23  to contract for services at the Bedford Atlantic

         24  Men's Shelter, the Brooklyn Woman's Shelter, the 68

         25  Lexington Avenue Women's Shelter and the Franklin
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          2  Avenue Men's Shelter.

          3                 The Springfield Gardens Shelter in

          4  Queens was privatized in July and the operation of

          5  Camp LaGuardia Men's Shelter in Chester, New York

          6  was turned over to the Volunteers of America on

          7  November 1 of this year.

          8                 DHS has and will continue to be

          9  committed to a fair redeployment of employees

         10  affected by any such restructuring. DHS sought

         11  enactment of Local Law 611 of 1999, which was signed

         12  by the Mayor on October 18th.

         13                 This law weighs the residency

         14  requirement for all city employees whose jobs

         15  outside the City are privatized, an important step

         16  in assuring continued employment for Camp LaGuardia

         17  staff.

         18                 In addition, DHS has been working

         19  closely with DC 37 and the Department of Citywide

         20  Administrative Services. Some affected employees

         21  were offered reassignment within DHS and given the

         22  opportunity to apply for job placement preference.

         23                 Other staff will be offered

         24  redeployment to other city agencies, while still

         25  others have accepted employment from the Volunteers
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          2  of America, the new operator at Camp LaGuardia.

          3                 During Fiscal '99 the Department

          4  further expanded its shelter programs for single

          5  adults, which addressed the issues that contribute

          6  to their homelessness. DHS has made significant

          7  progress in converting general shelter beds, which

          8  provide basic care in social services, to program

          9  shelter beds which provide more targeted and

         10  intensive services.

         11                 Currently the Department has over

         12  1,500 substance abuse beds, 900 mental health beds,

         13  and 735 employment beds for single adults.

         14                 The adult shelter system provides

         15  many innovative employment programs, including some

         16  that focus on specific skills such as culinary

         17  training, organic gardening, and security, as well

         18  as those aimed at more general work experience and

         19  job skills.

         20                 With the conversion of Camp LaGuardia

         21  from a general program, 87 percent of the single

         22  adult shelter beds are part of specialized programs.

         23                 Obviously for programs to be

         24  successful, they require active and willing client

         25  participation, which is the Department's hope and
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          2  expectation.

          3                 In Fiscal 1999, the Department's

          4  outreach efforts resulted in 14,280 referrals for

          5  services and 4,768 placements into temporary

          6  housing.

          7                 During the winter months, DHS expects

          8  outreach coverage, expands outreach coverage,

          9  reviews and reissues outreach procedures and

         10  identifies locations where at-risk homeless people

         11  can be found.

         12                 When a winter alert has been declared

         13  by the Health Department, DHS receives special

         14  assistance from the Police Department with its

         15  outreach efforts.

         16                 We have also been very, very

         17  successful in lowering the number of deficiencies

         18  identified during Callahan inspections at our adult

         19  shelters. A review of the recent inspection report

         20  shows that DHS has reduced the number of Callahan

         21  deficiencies Citywide by 78 percent from those found

         22  the previous year. Even more impressive is a 95

         23  percent reduction of the number of deficiencies

         24  found during the inspections over the past two

         25  years.
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          2                 However, we will continue to improve

          3  our performance even more. In Fiscal '99, DHS

          4  relocated over 1,800 single adults in permanent

          5  subsidized housing, so that exciting new programs

          6  ensure that the Department will be able to continue

          7  to relocate clients in the years to come.

          8                 In spring of 1999, the City and State

          9  announced plans to expand the New York New York

         10  Program for housing formerly mentally ill homeless

         11  people in New York City.

         12                 The City has allocated a total of $85

         13  million in capital funding, which together with

         14  state monies will provide an additional 1,500

         15  apartments to serve approximately 2,300 mentally ill

         16  homeless people over the next five years. The new

         17  agreement was signed on October 27th of this year.

         18                 In addition, during Fiscal Year '99,

         19  two of the six projects funded under the joint HPD

         20  DHS, $21 million single occupancy capital loan

         21  projects were completed. All projects are located in

         22  the Bronx. Recently a third project was completed

         23  and two additional SRO projects are currently under

         24  construction and will be completed by the end of

         25  Fiscal Year 2000.
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          2                 The last project will be completed by

          3  the end of Fiscal Year 2001. Today all of these

          4  programs will create another 305 units of new

          5  permanent housing for single adults. On the family

          6  side, during Fiscal Year 1999, the Department

          7  sheltered an average of 4,802 families each day

          8  compared with 4,508 families each day during Fiscal

          9  Year 1998.

         10                 As planned, during Fiscal Year 1999,

         11  DHS continues to investigated families' applications

         12  for temporary housing assistance within ten days of

         13  their arrival at the EAU. Finally, to compliment the

         14  expanded continuum of care, which is the core of our

         15  service delivery, the Department has worked in

         16  conjunction with several corporations, foundations

         17  and non-profit agencies that sponsor the variety of

         18  events and programs throughout the year for families

         19  and adults residing in the shelter system.

         20                 Let me provide you with several

         21  examples.

         22                 The Licks N Licks music workshops

         23  were held on-site at six homeless facilities,

         24  followed by musical performances and ice cream

         25  donated by the Ben and Jerry's Shop in Greenwich
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          2  Village, approximately 300 children were able to

          3  participate in these workshops held throughout the

          4  month of July.

          5                 In addition, we approached the Wendy

          6  Hilliard Foundation Summer Gymnastics Program to

          7  offer gymnastics workshops to children from within

          8  the family shelter system. This past summer, 250

          9  children participated in 12 sessions, twice a week.

         10  The program culminated with the opportunity to meet

         11  members of the US Gymnastics Team on National

         12  Gymnastics Day.

         13                 The Sister to Sister Program is an

         14  enrichment program for 25 single mothers sponsored

         15  by a community church that matches single mothers

         16  from the shelter system with single mothers in the

         17  community. The mothers meet regularly to engage in

         18  journal writing, aerobics, dance and discussion

         19  groups, and mentoring activities. Activities for

         20  child care are spearheaded by New York University

         21  Education students.

         22                 In addition, in August we sponsored a

         23  trip to the Rye Playland for approximately 340

         24  children from the shelter system. And as well we

         25  took over 200 kids to a New York Mets baseball game.
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          2                 Finally, the Deloitte & Touche/New

          3  York Cares Job Training Program will begin on

          4  December 4th. Employees from Deloitte & Touche

          5  consulting and accounting firm will conduct

          6  job-training workshops, resume writing seminars and

          7  mock-interviews on-site in the shelter for

          8  participants in our LIFE employment program.

          9                 This is only a sample of the kind of

         10  joint ventures that we wish to continue and expand

         11  upon to try to bring some additional

         12  non-governmental resources into our system. We plan

         13  to continue to work with corporations and

         14  foundations in the future to develop core training

         15  and recreational opportunities for clients.

         16                 In conclusion, this Department is

         17  committed to helping homeless people by assessing

         18  their needs, placing them in programs appropriate to

         19  those needs, and concentrating on the ultimate goal

         20  of independent living, which would require active

         21  client participation in order to be successful.

         22                 This concludes my prepared comments

         23  on the Fiscal 1999 Mayor's Management Report.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         25  Commissioner.
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          2                 Council Member Eldridge has a

          3  question or two for you and then I will do some of

          4  the MMR report and then we can wrap this up.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: When you

          6  talk about the agency's outreach efforts, are those

          7  contracts with other agencies to provide the

          8  outreach?

          9                 Are you providing direct outreach?

         10  How do we do that?

         11                 I live in a district that has I think

         12  a fair number of reports of homeless people. And we

         13  have several groups, are they the groups that you

         14  are talking about with your outreach?

         15                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: We contract

         16  with a number of non-profit organizations to conduct

         17  outreach. We manage that outreach system, and we do

         18  have our own outreach teams available for kind of

         19  quick response.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, how many

         21  contracts do you have?

         22                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I think we

         23  have a total of 11 or 13 contracts with outreach

         24  providers.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And how many
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          2  people do you have on outreach?

          3                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Do we have

          4  on outreach? I believe we have about 16 or 17.

          5  Something like 16 or 17.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Do you have

          7  a number of people who eventually reside in shelters

          8  that are due directly to the outreach?

          9                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Yes, we are

         10  able. And I am glad you are talking about this

         11  because one of the issues is that simply because

         12  somebody appears to be homeless doesn't mean that

         13  they are homeless, and it is often hard to

         14  distinguish between somebody who is just, you know,

         15  very --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: You gave a

         17  figure in your testimony, though, that resulted in

         18  14,280 referrals for service.

         19                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And 4,768

         21  placements into temporary housing?

         22                 Is that the answer to the question I

         23  asked?

         24                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Those are

         25  the specific numbers.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, it is

          3  basically 4,768 people eventually resided in

          4  shelters due to the outreach?

          5                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Right. Now,

          6  whether the problem is definition of residing,

          7  whether it is one day, two day, three day, the issue

          8  is the level of interaction between the outreach

          9  worker to first attract people into the shelter

         10  system, and then also continue their attachment to

         11  the shelter system.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So when

         13  Project Reachout gets somebody, it is a contract

         14  agency I think, when they find a mentally ill

         15  person, does that wind up in a general population

         16  shelter?

         17                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: No. That

         18  ends up in our intake process where determination is

         19  made and assessment is made what is the best

         20  possible service that we can provide for this

         21  particular person.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Do all

         23  people go through the EAU -- or the EVR? Do you have

         24  an EVR?

         25                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I don't
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          2  have an EVR.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But you have

          4  an eligibility investigation?

          5                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: We have an

          6  intake process, which is located at 30th Street. And

          7  a determination is made during the intake process

          8  whether or not that person ought to be referred to

          9  more specialized services.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: That is for

         11  single adults. The families are the ones who go

         12  through the EAU?

         13                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: All our

         14  families are taken in through the EAU in the Bronx,

         15  assessed at the EAU for services, and then placed

         16  appropriately.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Is a similar

         18  percentage of people turned away at your single

         19  families interviews that we turn away in families at

         20  the EAU?

         21                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Nobody is

         22  turned away as a single.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: The other

         24  question I have is --

         25                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: And by the
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          2  way, I don't want to leave anybody with a

          3  misapprehension that we bar the door at the EAU. We

          4  don't. We investigate people's suitability and

          5  eligibility for receiving shelter. It is not simply

          6  that we turn them away, we stiff arm them as they

          7  try to come into the door, that is not what happens.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I am sure

          9  the Chairman is going to ask you why there are

         10  people who have to apply time and again. Because I

         11  am not going to stay, I wondered if the

         12  questionnaire with more visits to EAU, or are the

         13  alternatives explored and eventually have worn out,

         14  there are no alternatives, but he will ask that.

         15                 I want to ask about domestic

         16  violence, families that are in the homeless shelter

         17  because of domestic violence.

         18                 Presumably do you operate the NVA

         19  workers? Are you over --

         20                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: That is HRA?

         22                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Let me

         23  explain the system.

         24                 We have NVA, which is No Violence

         25  Again workers that are stationed with us at the EAU.
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          2  If a family head comes in, makes a claim of domestic

          3  violence, we stop our eligibility process

          4  immediately and refer them to the NVA worker.

          5                 The NVA worker interviews the client

          6  and then makes a determination as to whether or not

          7  they are in fact domestic violence victims.

          8                 If they are domestic violence

          9  victims, they receive priority placement within my

         10  system.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: How many

         12  families who are domestic violence victims are

         13  currently in your system?

         14                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: It is a

         15  relatively large number. I would say somewhere

         16  between 800 to maybe 900.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So it is

         18  almost a quarter of your population, family

         19  population?

         20                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: A little

         21  less. A little less.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But they are

         23  in general shelters with special DV programs, or

         24  just general shelters?

         25                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Well, we
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          2  have, as you know all of our shelters, all of our

          3  Tier II shelters have very intensive caseworker

          4  support, so they are receiving casework for domestic

          5  violence.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And are they

          7  now called in to go to work also? The women?

          8                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I believe

          9  that what is under discussion is an exemption for

         10  domestic violence victims, because I believe --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I think it

         12  is exempt under legislation. It is.

         13                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I was about

         14  to get to that point.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What I

         16  believe is there is going to be some kind of a

         17  program that they are going to be forced to

         18  participate in, but we haven't heard that yet.

         19                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I have not

         20  developed any such program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So this is

         22  in addition to domestic violence shelters, you are

         23  housing 900 or more domestic violence victims in

         24  general population.

         25                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Within our
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          2  Tier II system, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Okay, thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          6  Council Member.

          7                 I have a couple of questions. Maybe

          8  we can quickly do these, because this MMR is, as I

          9  have said, of somewhat limited value, because

         10  indicators are not contained within it.

         11                 For the last year, the number of

         12  singles in the system is approximately what, and if

         13  we were to compare that to today's number, can you

         14  just give me the last year, and up until now, what

         15  are our numbers of singles in the system?

         16                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH:

         17  Approximately 6,800 average, which is about I think

         18  a three percent reduction from the prior year.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The number of

         20  families currently in the system?

         21                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: It is about

         22  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Again, if you

         24  look at the fiscal year that ended and where we are

         25  currently?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Yes, on

          3  average is about 4,860, which I believe is an

          4  increase over the prior year.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Do you have

          6  any rent subsidy programs up and running for

          7  homeless families?

          8                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: No.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Did the

         10  Council provide funding for rent subsidy programs,

         11  both in Fiscal Year '99 and Fiscal Year 2000?

         12                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: For Fiscal

         13  Year 2000, yes. I am not --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DiBRIENZA: You can

         15  check back in the record, we did provide it in '99

         16  as well.

         17                 And can you tell me where we are in

         18  the creation of, and implementation of rental

         19  assistance programs for families with the money the

         20  Council provided, such that we might be able to keep

         21  families in their homes, which is of course in the

         22  long run less expensive and less burdensome to all

         23  of us in this City, as opposed to in your shelter

         24  system, where they often end up, if they are a

         25  victim?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Are we

          3  talking about the $2 million that was specifically

          4  allocated by the Council for Family Rental and

          5  Single Assistance?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes.

          7                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: The RFP for

          8  provider of those services is coming out as of I

          9  believe December 13th.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         11                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Since we

         12  have gotten the money, we have engaged in a dialogue

         13  with the number of different organizations to try to

         14  develop a comprehensive program design. We have

         15  approached New York State for the use of some

         16  additional money that they have had allocated in

         17  their budget year, in order to provide ongoing

         18  social work assistance after people are placed into

         19  this kind of program. I believe we have all the

         20  pieces in place.

         21                 We will have the RFP out, like I

         22  indicated, on the 13th.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And then what

         24  is the time line associated with that RFP responsive

         25  to, you know, 60 days later?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Generally

          3  it is around 30 days, 30 working days or thereafter,

          4  we would expect to have the responses.  Because it

          5  is a critical RFP I have asked my staff to pay

          6  particular attention and try to shorten the process

          7  as quickly as possible.

          8                 We ought to have identified providers

          9  in the early part of next year, probably January or

         10  thereabouts and conclude negotiations and have a

         11  contract in place.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Let's not be

         13  too optimistic. If you issue the RFP December 13th,

         14  at a minimum you won't get responses until January

         15  13th, that is 30 days, and then from there you have

         16  to evaluate rate and figure out who wins the RFP.

         17                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I do not

         18  believe that the response for the RFP will be

         19  overwhelming. I don't think we need to worry about

         20  wading through 30 or 40 applications on this

         21  particular piece.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So, if you had

         23  to estimate when the RFP process is complete,

         24  reviewed and winner is selected, when do you

         25  estimate to have it?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Well, it is

          3  what we call a negotiated acquisition.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

          5                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I would be

          6  somewhat hesitant to give you an exact date the

          7  contract can start.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right. That is

          9  my point.

         10                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: It should

         11  be closer to January 1 than it would be to March

         12  30th.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         14                 Now, we can pick anywhere in the

         15  middle of that, the month of February you are ready

         16  to go, just hypothetically, that leaves about five

         17  months in the Fiscal Year. Do you anticipate using a

         18  pro rata share of the money allocated?

         19                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And depending

         21  on whether it is reallocated, because you know it

         22  doesn't roll over, depending on whether it is

         23  reallocated, theoretically the program could

         24  continue?

         25                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Obviously I

          3  think we agree that this could be money very well

          4  spent, and twelve-twelfths of it would have been

          5  better than to spend five-twelfths, but nonetheless,

          6  we would like to be, if you could keep the Committee

          7  up to date on the progress, because I will lobby for

          8  more money parental assistance programs, if in fact

          9  one is up and running and keeping families in their

         10  homes, for several reasons, not the least of which

         11  is how much more cost efficient and sort of holistic

         12  it ultimately is. So, I just want to mention that

         13  one, number one.

         14                 Number two, in terms of the EAU, I

         15  want to just say to you that while you were not I

         16  think -- how long have you been Commissioner of the

         17  Agency?

         18                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Seven

         19  months.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right. You

         21  were not Commissioner when we passed the local law,

         22  as I recall.

         23                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I was.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You were? Oh,

         25  I am sorry, you were. You were just kind of coming
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          2  on, right?

          3                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I was

          4  coming on, right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I just want to

          6  say that I think that the efforts made to change the

          7  process at the EAU, which is not necessarily

          8  reflected in one MMR document, but is something that

          9  everyone is concerned about, has been very helpful.

         10  And I think that the law that we first adopted and

         11  then slightly amended accomplishes something that

         12  had alluded people for years and years and years in

         13  trying to create a better system for families that

         14  enter the EAU, including actions that the law

         15  mandates or suggests and that you have already

         16  taken, including being open, as I understand, 24

         17  hours, taking applications spread throughout the

         18  day, and when you get appointments with families

         19  with their young children, rather than being there

         20  ten, eleven, twelve, one, two, three, four in the

         21  morning and sleeping all over in chairs and desks, a

         22  certain point in time comes they are taken to

         23  shelter for the night, not necessarily implying that

         24  they are deemed eligible sooner than you are ready

         25  to deem them, or you know, until you finish your
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          2  processes. So, I just think that has all been

          3  helpful, and I think whatever energy you can

          4  continue to devote to that would be even more

          5  helpful.

          6                 I think we are still concerned

          7  greatly, it is not reflected in the MMR because in

          8  the end they don't put in statistics like the

          9  average number of days and the time people repeat

         10  and how many times they applied, things that I think

         11  would be more meaningful, there is still some great

         12  concern that people get there, families get there,

         13  they get put up for the night, which accomplishes a

         14  very important goal, not having children sleeping on

         15  floors, they return, finish processing it, at best

         16  for ten-day temporary stay until eligibility is

         17  determined and there still appears to be this cycle

         18  of determination. Not eligible, a period of time

         19  goes by, the family comes back, the cycle is

         20  eligible, not eligible, the family comes back.

         21                 Now, at one point testimony told us

         22  that it was on average I think three and a half -- I

         23  don't know what that means, so let's say four times.

         24  Do you have any statistics that can begin to shed

         25  light on the number of times the family goes through
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          2  this, even though it is a better system because of

          3  the law?

          4                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Well, what

          5  I can tell you is that ultimately 62 percent of the

          6  families that apply are found eligible.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Are in fact? I

          8  am sorry?

          9                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: It doesn't

         10  answer your central question.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No, I didn't

         12  hear you.

         13                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Oh. That 62

         14  percent of the families are found eligible

         15  ultimately.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         17                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I can tell

         18  you that within, of those people who are found

         19  eligible, 80 percent of them are found eligible

         20  within two applications with the majority being

         21  found eligible in the first application.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Those are some

         23  of the statistics that I think would be --

         24                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: It would be

         25  helpful if these questions could be reduced to
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          2  writing, because we are talking about your

          3  particular statistics --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

          5                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: And my own

          6  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Yes, I have no

          8  problem. My summary point was going to be whether

          9  they are officially in the MMR or not in terms of

         10  being tracked, to the extent that you are an agency

         11  that accounts for its own actions and, you know, its

         12  success rates, whatever, and to the extent that you

         13  track some of this, it is helpful to see that the

         14  repetitive nature shrinks.

         15                 So, we will maybe send a written

         16  request for some of that information, particularly

         17  the stuff you have begun to track under your tenure,

         18  I think it is helpful to do that.

         19                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: And it is

         20  very important that we establish agreement on some

         21  of the definitions, because I know that some of the

         22  stuff is very slippery.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, this is

         24  all headed to one spot, Commissioner; and that is,

         25  if in fact there is still some difficulty in
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          2  entering the system, be it for families, or singles,

          3  we will leave it at families for now, and even if it

          4  is going in the right direction, and if in fact from

          5  the MMR I tell that there is, although an uptick in

          6  actual placements in one fiscal year, the overall

          7  placements to permanent housing followed it, you

          8  know, not so much on the trend of one year but over

          9  the term of the Administration has gone down. So, if

         10  you have a little back up at the beginning, and a

         11  little inability or less ability to place people in

         12  permanent housing, it puts a pressure on the middle.

         13                 As a result of that pressure, did you

         14  propose, and I asked this of the last Commissioner,

         15  in terms of their role, I asked them for a different

         16  reason, to fill foster care, so let me just remind

         17  you if you weren't here, and they answered it.

         18                 I was just wondering if you proposed

         19  this fuller sanction approach where people not just

         20  lose, families not just lose a benefit to comply

         21  with the work experience program, but are actually

         22  thrown back out on the street and their children are

         23  taken, so to make room in the middle of your shelter

         24  system?

         25                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Just the order

          3  of things. She came first, after she proposed it to

          4  get more kids foster care she said no. Did you

          5  propose it to make room in your system? I will get

          6  the answer, and then eventually I will ask Jason

          7  Turner whether he proposed it for some other reason.

          8                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: No, that is

          9  absolutely not so. The genesis of this are the, I

         10  believe it is the Article 900 regulations, social

         11  service regulations, but even before that, even

         12  before that we, as an agency, had decided to work on

         13  the issue of people who were resistant to service

         14  who had been within our shelter system; i.e. they

         15  were failing to cooperate with independent living

         16  plans, they were fighting within the shelter, they

         17  were using drugs within the shelter, so there were a

         18  whole host of reasons that were moving towards some

         19  sort of additional shelter discharge policy,

         20  independent of the social service law and its

         21  implementing regulations.

         22                 I mean, it's not --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, I accept

         24  that. So, you didn't propose this particular plan?

         25  The current plan which says if women, families, but
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          2  mostly women with children, failed to meet all of

          3  the workfare requirements, they not only lose a cash

          4  grant, which is somewhat of the norm these days, but

          5  they are thrown on the street and the kids are taken

          6  into foster care.

          7                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: As I

          8  understand, this is part of the welfare reform

          9  package approved by congress, and then passed on

         10  through New York State to its operating social

         11  service districts.

         12                 This is not something that is a

         13  matter of choice, this is something that has been

         14  around --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Commissioner,

         16  not to venture too far afield, if you didn't propose

         17  it, I will deal with it in the next segment of my

         18  hearings with the Commissioner, because I don't

         19  believe it is at all mandated. But we will cover

         20  that with him.

         21                 You didn't propose it is all I am

         22  asking right now?

         23                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I totally

         24  support this policy.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That's okay. I
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          2  just asked if you proposed it.

          3                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: As I said,

          4  we were working and we have worked very hard for a

          5  long time on shelter-based sanctions which include

          6  the pass-through of the public assistance

          7  eligibility, continuing eligibility for public

          8  assistance.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, let me

         10  just ask a couple of other questions and then we

         11  will wrap it up.

         12                 Is the plan, as I understand it, and

         13  we will confirm it with Commissioner Turner, that he

         14  proposed, and has been adopted by the

         15  Administration, being implemented under your

         16  direction? In other words, you decide when and where

         17  and the elements? Or is it because it is a welfare

         18  to work sort of, you know, the process you just

         19  described, is it really an HRA discussion that I

         20  need have?

         21                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: No, it is

         22  an Administration discussion. This touches three

         23  different agencies.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         25                 Do you have a start date for this
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          2  sort of full sanction-ish kind of program as it

          3  relates to families, more often than not women and

          4  children?

          5                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Early

          6  January. Probably coterminous with our going forward

          7  on the single adult side.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, on the

          9  single adult side, do you have -- are you currently

         10  in court as to whether or not you have the power to

         11  do it?

         12                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Yes, there

         13  has been discovery. We have provided depositions and

         14  the contents of our plan to the plaintiffs, the

         15  Legal Aid Society.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So do you

         17  currently have permission to do it for singles?

         18                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: No, we

         19  don't.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And as far as

         21  current testimony would be that the idea would be to

         22  resolve that one way or the other, presumably we

         23  don't necessarily know the outcome, and then, if I

         24  follow you, assuming you're given permission to

         25  begin both programs some time in the new year?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          4                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: By the way,

          5  we do anticipate that the quote will agree with our

          6  assessment of not only our ability but also the

          7  necessity of moving forward with the --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, I will

          9  have the rest of this discussion with Commissioner

         10  Turner. I don't know whether the courts will agree,

         11  we will wait and see.

         12                 I certainly know that the State

         13  authorized you to go beyond, for the City to go

         14  beyond if they wanted sanctioning, the cash portion

         15  of the benefit, to actually taking away the shelter

         16  from, you know, folks for failure to comply.

         17                 I do know that there is a legitimate

         18  question as to whether that serves any particular

         19  good, having spent all of these years and all of

         20  this energy and all of this money on trying to get

         21  homeless individuals off the street and into the

         22  shelter system, which you have described as

         23  functioning better than ever and as being part of

         24  the not-for-profit network and being therapeutic in

         25  nature, and the family system, which including
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          2  intake we spent all of this energy, time and money

          3  to improve, and the outreach contracts and all of

          4  the money spent on those to get people off the

          5  streets, and whether in the light of all of that on

          6  one side of the equation there is any greater social

          7  good and value to not be a threshold concept that

          8  you might have to give back to society for the

          9  benefit you received, particularly in terms of your

         10  cash grant, but whether there is value in assuming

         11  someone is unable or for one reason or another fails

         12  to comply with this program as created by HRA and is

         13  implemented by HRA, whether there is some greater

         14  value in throwing them back out on the streets, in

         15  the case of singles and family heads and taking

         16  their children into an overburdened foster care,

         17  when it is not clear that the program itself,

         18  statistically, has been proven to do what it set out

         19  to do, when more people are sanctioned off from the

         20  general population are documented to have been

         21  sanctioned off of the roles and can be documented to

         22  have found employment, when it is clear that there

         23  is a backlog in child care and that child care is

         24  not readily available, and a whole host of other

         25  problems associated, with not your agency, but with
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          2  the general population and the general HRA

          3  population, welfare population that they deal with.

          4                 So, I do think that people have are

          5  right to be a little concerned and outraged over the

          6  prospect of homeless people all over their streets

          7  and subway grates and building doorways, and mothers

          8  being out there fending for themselves, their

          9  children being put into an overburdened foster care

         10  system, all because of the failure to comply with

         11  some work experience program designed by HRA and I

         12  think people have a right to be worried about

         13  whether that is simply -- goes too far, is somewhat

         14  meanspirited and counter-productive. And that is a

         15  lot different than suggesting people have to give

         16  back to society for the benefit they received, and

         17  that even put at risk their cash benefit, if they

         18  don't comply.

         19                 So, I think this is a serious problem

         20  and I think it shows how far this Administration

         21  will go as an administration to drive down the

         22  numbers of people involved in the social service

         23  system, as opposed to assisting whatever number that

         24  might be. That is just my opinion.

         25                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: May I
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          2  respond to that?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Oh, I am

          4  sorry. No, if you thought that was a part directed

          5  at you, no I don't think any of it was.

          6                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Well, there

          7  are some things that impugn both my motivation or

          8  the motivation of my staff.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, no

         10  offense was meant to you.

         11                 I believe this is driven by HRA and

         12  the Commissioner of HRA, that is my belief. But go

         13  right ahead.

         14                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Well, I

         15  mean you have to start off from the point of view of

         16  when it impacts on DHS that shelter is in fact a

         17  public assistance benefit and it is not found to be

         18  such by New York State rules and regulations. And

         19  that this in fact has been implemented throughout

         20  the state. We are the only area that are left that

         21  don't do this.

         22                 So, you know, first of all we need to

         23  be compliant with the law. But secondly, you know,

         24  and the welfare reform, public assistance is

         25  conditioned upon --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Commissioner,

          3  maybe you didn't hear me.

          4                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Maybe you

          6  didn't hear me.

          7                 I understand that the State

          8  authorized it and under the state regs --

          9                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: No, it is

         10  beyond the State authorizing it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Number one, I

         12  understand and I said that.

         13                 Number two, I understand, but this

         14  particular implementation, this particular

         15  interpretation is not mandated by congress or the

         16  Welfare Reform Act, it is not. I can assure you of

         17  that. Check with your lawyers. This particular

         18  interpretation is not mandated by the Welfare Reform

         19  Act. I wasn't looking to have -- well, I thought I

         20  was clear about that.

         21                 The only question I raised in that

         22  last commentary was whether or not there is some

         23  greater social good and value that New York City

         24  residents will find by taking this extra step. Not

         25  by creating programs, not by creating dynamics where
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          2  people give back to society, not even by sanctioning

          3  cash, but by throwing people back out into the

          4  streets of this City, and in the case of most often

          5  mothers, taking their children into an overburdened

          6  foster care.

          7                 I am not asking you to tell me

          8  whether it is legal or not, we will see what the

          9  courts say. It is certainly not mandated by the

         10  Welfare Reform Act, it is certainly I believe an

         11  extreme position. I just am raising and closing the

         12  question of whether or not most New Yorkers would

         13  think it is good thing when in fact thousands of

         14  people are thrown back out onto the streets,

         15  juxtaposed to all of the work that you and your

         16  predecessors and we have done to create a

         17  not-for-profit-based shelter system with specialized

         18  beds, with outreach teams and with a continuum of

         19  care. That's all. I don't make the conclusion, I

         20  just raise the question.

         21                 I think, if you ask people don't you

         22  think it is a good thing that folks work for their

         23  benefits? If that was in the poll they would say

         24  yes. But if you ask people, do you think it is a

         25  good thing that a mother and a child are thrown back
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          2  out on the street for failure to comply with a

          3  program that was created by HRA that has all kinds

          4  of hurdles in it and if they fail, we can take away

          5  their money, which would be some punishment, but we

          6  want to go a step further and throw them out onto

          7  the street and take their kids into an overburdened

          8  foster care system.

          9                 Now, that question will never be in a

         10  poll, but if you ask that question, most New Yorkers

         11  might say, I think that goes a little too far.

         12                 That was the only point I was making.

         13                 COMMISSIONER OESTERREICH: I can

         14  assure you that we will develop and finalize the

         15  system which will be humane, rational and still

         16  accomplish what I believe both welfare reform and

         17  the State of New York's implementing regulations

         18  demand.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         20                 This portion of the hearing is

         21  adjourned. We will take a 60-second break and then

         22  we will take Commissioner Turner.

         23                 (Recess taken.)

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. The

         25  next and final agency to appear before us for the
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          2  Charter-mandated MMR hearings is the Human Resources

          3  Administration.

          4                 I have been informed by the

          5  Governmental Affairs staff that Commissioner Turner

          6  has chosen not to be here and instead send his very

          7  able First Deputy Commissioner. Unfortunately, the

          8  nature of these hearings, the issues surrounding

          9  them are such that in this Chair's opinion it is

         10  incumbent upon the Commissioner to be here. He has

         11  appeared less and less before this Committee,

         12  choosing to instead send his First Deputy

         13  repeatedly.

         14                 Now, on a single topic issue that may

         15  be appropriate, but when we are covering the Mayor's

         16  Management Report or the budget, which are the two

         17  major Charter-mandated hearings, I believe that it

         18  is incumbent upon the Commissioner himself to be

         19  here, in fact, I believe it is an obligation of the

         20  Charter for him to be here.

         21                 So we are going to adjourn this

         22  particular hearing, offering no disrespect to the

         23  First Deputy, who was just before us the other day.

         24  And we are going to reinvite the Commissioner, as we

         25  have had to do periodically in the past. I will ask
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          2  the Committee in an informal procedure to send a

          3  written invitation to the Commissioner indicating

          4  that we would like him to testify before this

          5  Committee, and we should be prepared to use any and

          6  all means at our disposal to compel that appearance,

          7  and we have done that before. It is simply important

          8  I think that he be here.

          9                 So, with that in mind, we will

         10  adjourn the portion of the MMR hearing related to

         11  HRA.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 1:30 p.m.)
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